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Results for Announcement to the Market 
 

 Reported 
2016 

$’000 
2015 

$’000 
Change 

% 

Revenue from continuing operations  689,494 654,139 5.4% 
(Loss) for the period from ordinary activities after tax 
attributable to members 

(156,806) (312,248) 49.8% 

(Loss) for the period attributable to members (156,806) (312,248) 49.8% 

Underlying EBITDA 4,508 (12,018) N/A 

 

Asset Backing 2016 2015A 

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary share $0.10 ($0.27) 

Net asset backing per ordinary share $1.06 $1.59 

A Prior period numbers have been restated to reflect the consolidation of the Company’s issued capital on the basis 
of one share for every existing ten shares.  

No dividends/distributions were declared or paid to the members of Ten Network Holdings 
Limited during or subsequent to the year ended 31 August 2016. 

Reconciliation between Underlying EBITDA and (Loss) for the period attributable to members: 

 
2016 

$’000 
2015 

$’000 

Underlying EBITDA 4,508 (12,018) 

Depreciation (11,798) (14,268) 

Net finance costs (19,111) (15,881) 

Income tax expense (2,742) (3,400) 

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (2,405) (3,798) 

Net significant items (125,258) (262,883) 

(Loss) for the period from ordinary activities after tax 
attributable to members 

(156,806) (312,248) 

 
The 2016 significant items of ($125.3m) include the impairment of television licences ($135.2m), 
writedown of investments ($11.0m) and restructuring costs ($2.2m); offset by a gain on sale of 
the Out-of-Home business $23.1m. 

The 2015 significant items of ($262.9m) include the impairment of television licences ($251.2m), 
provision for onerous contracts ($6.8m), restructuring costs ($6.3m); offset by a gain on sale 
of investment $1.3m. 

Further details on significant items are disclosed in Note 2. 

Refer to attached Media Release for discussion of results. Additional Appendix 4E requirements 
can be found in the Directors’ Report, the 31 August 2016 Full Financial Report and 
accompanying notes.  



 

TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITED 
ABN 14 081 327 068 

 
Annual MeetingAnnual MeetingAnnual MeetingAnnual Meeting    

 
The annual meeting will be held as follows: 

Place: Ballroom 1 at the Four Seasons Hotel Sydney, 199 George Street, Sydney 

Date: Thursday 8 December 2016 

Time: 10:00am 

Approximate date the annual report will be available: Tuesday 8 November 2016
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This financial report covers the consolidated entity consisting of Ten Network Holdings Limited and 
its controlled entities. 

 

Ten Network Holdings Limited is a Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED | Full Financial Report 2016                              Page 2 

The Directors of Ten Network Holdings Limited present their report on the consolidated entity, 
consisting of Ten Network Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled entities, for the 
year ended 31 August 2016. 

Directors 

The Directors that have been in office at any time during or since year end are: 

DIRECTORDIRECTORDIRECTORDIRECTOR    AlternateAlternateAlternateAlternate    

CurrentCurrentCurrentCurrent        

Mr DL Gordon (Chairman)                               Mr BJ Long (Until 16 Dec 2015)                               

Ms DL Goodin (Appointed 17 Aug 2016)  

Mr A Lancaster (Appointed 25 Jul 2016)  

Ms SL McKenna Mr BJ Long (Until 16 Dec 2015)                               

Mr AJ Robb (Appointed 25 Jul 2016)  

Mr PC Tonagh (Appointed 30 Mar 2016)  

PreviousPreviousPreviousPrevious     

Mr JJ Cowin (Resigned 16 Dec 2015) Mr PV Gleeson (Until 16 Dec 2015) 

Mr R Freudenstein (16 Dec 2015 to 30 Mar 2016)  

Mr PV Gleeson (Resigned 17 Aug 2016) 
Mr JJ Cowin (Until 16 Dec 15) and  
Mr DL Gordon (Until 17 Aug 16) 

Mr DD Hawkins (Resigned 16 Dec 2015)  Mr DL Gordon (Until 16 Dec 15) 

Ms CW Holgate (Resigned 16 Dec 2015) Mr DL Gordon (Until 16 Dec 15) 

Mr J Klepec (Resigned 25 Jul 2016) Mr BJ Long (Until 25 Jul 2016)                               

Mr BJ Long (Resigned 25 Jul 2016)  Mr DL Gordon (Until 25 Jul 16) 

Principal Activities 

The principal activity of the Company is the investment in The Ten Group Pty Limited (“Ten 
Group”) and controlled entities, whose principal activities are the operation of multi-channel 
commercial television licences in Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Adelaide and Perth, and a national 
online media platform. 

Operating and Financial Review  

The 2016 financial year was one of significant achievements for your company. 

Ten Network Holdings continued to invest in prime time domestic content, building audience 
momentum, delivering significant growth in revenue and returning the company to a positive 
underlying Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) position.  

During the year the Company also fully transitioned its sales operations to Multi Channel Network 
Pty Ltd (“MCN”), completed the issue of new ordinary shares to Foxtel Management Pty Limited 
as agent for the Foxtel Partnership, completed a fully underwritten accelerated pro-rata 
renounceable entitlement offer of new ordinary shares and established new affiliate agreements 
with WIN Network and Southern Cross Media.  

The transition to MCN has been a key focus, with the ground breaking partnership commencing 
on 1 September 2015 and full trading platform migration completed during the year. This 
partnership has enabled the Company to change the way airtime is sold, gaining scale, efficiency, 
improved data capability and broader integration opportunities for advertising clients. The 2017 
financial year will bring further enhancements with the introduction of automated trading of 
airtime. 
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The Company grew ratings and revenue through 2016, resulting from the clear strategic focus on: 

• Event television 

• Premium live sport 

• Focusing on the 25-54 demographic  

• Distinct demographic targeting and program content for ELEVEN and ONE 

• Consistency in program scheduling  

• Development of new formats 

• Expansion of digital platforms and revenue 

The strategic focus has resulted in strengthening of programming across the schedule, providing 
improved revenue and ratings performance in the 2016 year. 

Financial Performance and HighlightsFinancial Performance and HighlightsFinancial Performance and HighlightsFinancial Performance and Highlights    

A summary of the consolidated results for the year ended 31 August 2016 are set out as follows:

 

OperatingOperatingOperatingOperating    ResultResultResultResult  

For the year ending 31 August 2016, the Company reported a statutory loss after tax of $154.4m 
(2015: loss of $308.5m), including significant items. On an underlying basis, the Company made 
significant progress, reporting Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 
(EBITDA) of $4.5m (2015: loss of $12.0m).   

The Company’s Television revenues increased 7.4% to $674.0m (2015: $627.6m) as a result of gains 
in revenue market share, while Television costs grew 4.3% to $683.7m (2015: $655.6m) following 
continued investment in programming to drive audience improvement and revenue growth. 

The statutory loss after tax included the following revenue and expenses that are significant in 
nature: 

• $23.1m profit on sale of the Out-of-Home business 

Offset by the following expense items: 

• $135.2m impairment of the television licence 

• $11.0m writedown of Investment in an unlisted entity 

• $2.2m of restructuring costs 

    

    

    

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Underlying EBTIDA 4,508 (12,018)

Depreciation (11,798) (14,268)

Net finance costs (19,111) (15,881)

Net significant items (125,258) (262,883)

(Loss) / Profit before income tax (151,659) (305,050)

Income tax (expense) (2,742) (3,400)

(Loss)/ Profit after tax for the year(Loss)/ Profit after tax for the year(Loss)/ Profit after tax for the year(Loss)/ Profit after tax for the year (154,401)(154,401)(154,401)(154,401) (308,450)(308,450)(308,450)(308,450)

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 2,405 3,798

(Loss)/ Profit attributable to members of the Company(Loss)/ Profit attributable to members of the Company(Loss)/ Profit attributable to members of the Company(Loss)/ Profit attributable to members of the Company (156,806)(156,806)(156,806)(156,806) (312,248)(312,248)(312,248)(312,248)
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Net Debt 

Total borrowings (all non-current) were $90.2m as at 31 August 2016, being: 

• A bank loan of $65m drawn on the $200m Revolving Cash Advance Facility 

• Capitalised interest and commitment fees of $3.3m 

• Capitalised Shareholder guarantor fees of $23.1m 

• Less: Capitalised transaction costs of $1.2m  

Net debt relating to the Company’s Revolving Cash Advance Facility at 31 August 2016 was $53.5m 
(bank loan of $65m, capitalised interest and commitment fees of $3.3m less cash of $14.8m). 

Cash Flow 

Cash outflows from operating activities were $51.4m (2015: $55.0m), and included the impact of 
payments relating to programming investments, as the Company continues to invest in the prime 
time domestic schedule.   

Cash outflows from investment activities of $7.6m represent the purchase of property, plant and 
equipment, and investment in MCN, partially offset by $1.2m of dividends received from OzTAM. 

Cash inflows from financing activities of $61.8m (2015: $40.3m) are mainly due to $146.2m net cash 
proceeds from the successful completion of the equity raising in December 2015. The net 
movement also reflects net loan drawdowns and repayments made on the $200m Revolving Cash 
Advance Facility. 

Balance Sheet 

Significant balance sheet movements during the year were as follows: 

• The estimated recoverable amount of the Television Cash Generating Unit, based on value-in-
use, equals its carrying amount following a $135.2m impairment booked during the year 

• Borrowings and Contributed equity reflect the $146.2m net impact of the Foxtel share 
placement and share entitlement offer 

• There are no longer any onerous contract provisions (2015: $18.0m), reflecting the removal of 
provisions associated with the Out-of-Home business and the utilisation of provisions for 
sports contracts which reached the end of their term 

Operational HighlightsOperational HighlightsOperational HighlightsOperational Highlights    

In 2016 the Company continued its strategy of building a consistent, prime time domestic schedule 
across the full survey year. This is now broadly complete.  

Key operational highlights for the 2016 year were as follows: 

• Total Television revenue growth of 7.4%, in a market that declined by 2.9% 

• Revenue market share of the metro free-to-air television market increased 2.2% to 24.0%  

• Digital revenue growth of 19.6% 

• Total People ratings share up 0.7% to 25.4% 

• Audience share in the important 25-54 demographic increased 0.6% to 29.3% 

• Total costs (excluding selling costs) increased 5.1%, within market guidance of 5.5% 

• Successful completion of operational transition to MCN 

• Implementation of new affiliation arrangements with WIN Network and Southern Cross Media 
from 1 July 2016 on new and improved commercial terms 
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Business and Strategic RisksBusiness and Strategic RisksBusiness and Strategic RisksBusiness and Strategic Risks    

Business risks that could affect the achievement of the Company’s future financial prospects 
include:  

• Failure of the MCN partnership to generate sufficient sales revenue, with negative impacts on 
revenue and cash flow. The Company has developed strong communication channels and 
reporting protocols with MCN to mitigate this risk along with retaining key sales management 
at the Company, working with MCN to ensure the relationship operates effectively 

• The Company is unable to negotiate and secure funding to refinance debt as a result of internal 
and external influences.  The existing $200m Revolving Cash Advance Facility expires on 23 
December 2017. The Company has commenced discussions with a number of parties in order 
to assess and consider the refinancing options available 

• An inability to secure and develop appropriate program rights, from both the domestic and 
overseas market, that generate ratings and in turn, revenues. Controls over the selection, 
commissioning and approval of content mitigate this risk, with programming decisions backed 
by research and executive approval to ensure spend is aligned to the strategic plan 

• Inability to react to structural changes and market pressures in the free to air advertising 
market.  To mitigate this risk, the Company continues to invest in and develop the Company’s 
digital catch-up and streaming platform (tenplay), and follows a structured approach to 
reviewing investment opportunities to capitalise on new and emerging trends 

• A significant and sustained transmission failure.  The Company continues to have robust 
controls in place to mitigate this risk, including redundancy, dual transmission sites, dual paths 
of carriage, backups and real-time incident monitoring.  The Company also maintains prudent 
insurance coverage 

Business Strategies and OutlookBusiness Strategies and OutlookBusiness Strategies and OutlookBusiness Strategies and Outlook    

The 2016 strategic focus has been one of consistent development, building on the momentum 
achieved in 2015 through further investment in content. The focus has remained on prime time for 
the TEN primary channel, with the aim of delivering a consistent schedule across the survey year, 
and the continued focus on the 25-54 demographic, supported by tenplay. 

Investment in general entertainment content across proven domestic franchises continued in 2016, 
with returning shows I’m a Celebrity… Get Me Out of Here!, MasterChef Australia, The Bachelor 
Australia, The Bachelorette Australia and The Living Room. Gogglebox Australia and Have You Been 
Paying Attention? increased their audiences significantly, while Family Feud continued to improve 
the TEN channel’s 6.00pm prime time weekday audience and contributed to a lift in audience and 
commercial share in The Project. The major new franchise Australian Survivor launched towards 
the end of the financial year, which, together with the return of Offspring has delivered a strong 
prime time schedule. 

We have also continued to invest in event television programming through premium sport with 
the KFC Big Bash League cricket, Rugby Union, Supercars Championship, Formula One, MotoGP 
and RPM.   

The strategy of TV Everywhere remains. Television is no longer purely a linear viewing experience 
and the tenplay digital catch-up and streaming platform saw unprecedented growth. Tenplay takes 
content across multiple screens, creating deeper audience engagement and has surpassed 2.7 
million downloads of its mobile device application across Android, iOS and Windows devices. That 
reach now extends across smart TVs, Microsoft's Xbox 360, Xbox One platforms and through 
FreeviewPlus, Apple TV and Fetch TV.  

Demand in the television advertising market remains subdued, characterised by short-term 
booking cycles. Despite these conditions, the Company’s television revenue grew by 7.4% in 2016.  

The Company plans to continue strengthening its content schedule and provide improved 
audience performance across key timeslots and demographics, focussing on the 25-54 
demographic for the primary TEN channel, fresh formats, cost effective local production, premium 
sporting events and a leading digital platform. 

Cost control, in particular for non-content related areas of the business, is a key focus for the 
Company. 
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DividendsDividendsDividendsDividends    

The Company did not pay or announce any dividends during the period. 

Significant Changes in the State Of AffairsSignificant Changes in the State Of AffairsSignificant Changes in the State Of AffairsSignificant Changes in the State Of Affairs    

In June 2015 the Company and The Multi Channel Network Pty Ltd (MCN) announced a long-term 
agreement for MCN to represent the Company’s television, catch-up and digital properties for 
advertisers. MCN commenced sales representation on behalf of the Company from 1 September 
2015. The agreement has allowed the Company to gain scale, new efficiencies, improved data 
capability and broader integration opportunities for advertising clients. The Company is a 24.99% 
shareholder in MCN and has a seat on the MCN board. 

Events Subsequent to Balance DateEvents Subsequent to Balance DateEvents Subsequent to Balance DateEvents Subsequent to Balance Date    

No matters or circumstances have arisen since balance date that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect: 

• the operations in financial years subsequent to 31 August 2016 of the consolidated entity; or 

• the results of those operations, or the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 31 August 
2016 of the consolidated entity. 
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Information on DirectorsInformation on DirectorsInformation on DirectorsInformation on Directors    

David L Gordon David L Gordon David L Gordon David L Gordon  

Experience and expertise 27 July 2015, Mr Gordon was appointed Chairman of the Company. 

He has been a Director of the Company since 1 April 2010. 

Mr Gordon is also Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees of the Company and a Member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 

Mr Gordon is a former M&A partner at the Sydney law firm, Freehills (now 
Herbert Smith Freehills), and subsequently at former corporate advisory 
firm, Wentworth Associates Pty Ltd, prior to founding Lexicon Partners 
Pty Ltd, an independent corporate advisory and investment firm based in 
Sydney and with a specialisation in technology, media and 
telecommunications. Mr Gordon has advised and acted for a number of 
Australia's major media businesses over the last 30 years. He is a director 
of RCG Corporation Limited. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce and 
Bachelor of Law degrees from the University of New South Wales and is 
a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Other current listed 
directorships 

RCG Corporation Limited (appointed 19 October 2006) 

Former directorships in 
last 3 years 

None 

  

Special responsibilities Chairman – appointed 27 July 2015 

Chairman of Remuneration Committee – appointed 17 September 2014 

Interests in shares and 
options 

Ordinary shares – 29,433 

    
DebrDebrDebrDebra L Goodina L Goodina L Goodina L Goodin     

Experience and expertise Director of the Company since 17 August 2016. 

Ms Goodin is Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee and a Member of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the Company. 

Ms Goodin has more than 20 years’ senior management experience with 
professional services firms, government authorities and ASX-listed 
companies across a broad range of industries and service areas. 

Her executive experience in finance, operations, corporate strategy and 
mergers and acquisitions included service as Chief Operating Officer for 
an Australian and New Zealand subsidiary of Downer EDI Limited, and as 
Acting Chief Financial Officer and Head of Mergers and Acquisitions, and 
then Global Head of Operations, at Coffey International Limited, where 
she led geosciences, project management and international development 
businesses. 

Ms Goodin holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from Adelaide 
University and is a Chartered Accountant. 

Ms Goodin is currently a Director of the ASX-listed companies Senex 
Energy Limited, oOh!media Limited and APA Group Limited and Chairs 
the Audit and Risk Committees of oOh!media and Senex. 

Other current listed 
directorships 

Senex Energy Limited (appointed 26 May 2014) 

oOh!media Limited (appointed 28 November 2014) 

APA Group Limited (appointed 26 August 2015) 

Former directorships in 
last 3 years 

None 

  

Interests in shares and 
options 

None 
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Andrew LancasterAndrew LancasterAndrew LancasterAndrew Lancaster     

Experience and expertise Director since 25 July 2016. 

He is also a Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees 
of the Company. 

Mr Lancaster is Chief Executive Officer of WIN Corporation Pty Ltd and 
has more than 22 years’ experience in the media industry. 

He holds a Master of Commerce in Human Resource Management. 

He is a Director, and former Chairman, of MediaHub Australia and a 
former Director of Free TV Australia and WIN NBN Sales. 

Other current listed 
directorships 

None 

Former directorships in 
last 3 years 

None 

Interests in shares and 
options 

None 

    

 
Siobhan L McKenna Siobhan L McKenna Siobhan L McKenna Siobhan L McKenna  

Experience and expertise Director of the Company since 26 June 2012. 

Ms McKenna was appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 17 October 2012.  She 
is also a Member of the Nomination Committee. 

Ms McKenna is Managing Partner of Illyria Pty Ltd, and a non-Executive 
Director of each of Woolworths Ltd, AMCIL Limited, Nova 
Entertainment, The Australian Ballet, Foxtel Management Pty Limited 
and Fox Sports Pty Limited.  Ms McKenna is also a Member of the MCG 
Trust. 

Ms McKenna is a former Partner of management consulting firm 
McKinsey & Company, Commissioner of the Productivity Commission 
and Chairman and Board Member of NBNCo.   

Other current listed 
directorships 

Woolworths Limited (appointed 8 February 2016) 

AMCIL Limited (appointed 16 March 2016) 

Former directorships in 
last 3 years 

None 

Interests in shares and 
options 

None 
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The Hon Andrew Robb, AOThe Hon Andrew Robb, AOThe Hon Andrew Robb, AOThe Hon Andrew Robb, AO 

Experience and expertise Director since 25 July 2016. 

He is also a Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees of 
the Company. 

From 1990 to 1997, Mr Robb was the Federal Director and Campaign 
Director of the Liberal Party. 

From 1997 to 2004, he worked for Kerry and James Packer, as well as 
advising major companies around Australia and overseas. During this 
time he also built an Australia-wide direct marketing technology 
company, was on the investment team for the Gorgan Gas Project, and 
was a Board Member of Sinclair Knight Merz, Australia’s largest consulting 
engineering company. 

Mr Robb has also been a Board Member of the Garvan Medical Research 
Foundation, the Menzies Research Centre, the Big Brother Big Sister 
mentoring organisation, a member of the YWCA Leadership group and 
was honorary Treasurer of the Liberal Party in NSW. He also served as 
Chairman of the Australian Direct Marketing Association. 

In 2003 Mr Robb was awarded the Office of the Order of Australia for his 
service to agriculture, politics and the community. 

Mr Robb was elected to the Federal seat of Goldstein in October 2004, 
holding positions as Chairman of the Government’s Workplace Relations 
Taskforce, Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for Immigration and 
Multicultural Affairs and then Minister for Vocational and Further 
Education.  

In Opposition, he held positions as Shadow Minister for Foreign Affairs, 
Shadow Minister for Infrastructure and Climate Change, Chairman of the 
Coalition Policy Development Committee and Shadow Minister for 
Finance, Deregulation and Debt Reduction. 

Mr Robb was appointed to the Cabinet as Minister for Trade and 
Investment in 2013. In the role, Mr Robb negotiated Free Trade 
Agreements with South Korea, Japan and China, as well as the 12 country 
Trans Pacific Partnership (TPP) free trade agreement and the 
Comprehensive Strategic Partnership with Singapore. He retired from 
politics at the 2016 Federal election. 

Other current listed 
directorships 

None 

Former directorships in 
last 3 years 

None 

Interests in shares and 
options 

None 
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Peter C TonaghPeter C TonaghPeter C TonaghPeter C Tonagh     

Experience and expertise Director since 30 March 2016. 

He is also a Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees 
of the Company. 

Mr Tonagh is the Chief Executive Officer of Foxtel Management Pty 
Limited. He is also the Chairman of MCN (Multi Channel Network). 

Prior to his appointment at Foxtel, Mr Tonagh was Chief Executive 
Officer of News Corp Australia. His previous roles also include Chief 
Operating Officer of News Corp Australia, interim Chief Executive Officer 
of REA Group, and the dual roles of Chief Operating Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer at Foxtel. 

He has also held the role of Vice President and Director of The Boston 
Consulting Group, working across Australia, New Zealand and 
throughout Asia. 

Other current listed 
directorships 

None 

Former directorships in 
last 3 years 

REA Group Limited (13 November 2013 – 22 March 2016) 

News Limited (28 January 2014 – 15 April 2016) 

Interests in shares and 
options 

None 

 

Company Secretaries 

Stephen PartingtonStephen PartingtonStephen PartingtonStephen Partington Mr Partington was appointed as Company Secretary of The Ten Group 
Pty Limited in October 1996 and as Company Secretary of Ten Network 
Holdings Limited in June 2001. He also held the position of Group General 
Counsel from 1996 to 2011. 

Mr Partington graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor of 
Laws from the University of New South Wales and Masters of Laws from 
each of Sydney University and the University of Technology, Sydney. 

He is a fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia and the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and a member of the Law 
Society of New South Wales and Australian Corporate Lawyers 
Association.  

He has been admitted as a solicitor in New South Wales since 1980. 

Dave BoormanDave BoormanDave BoormanDave Boorman Mr Boorman joined Ten Network as Chief Financial Officer in November 
2015.  

He was appointed as an additional Company Secretary to Ten Network 
Holdings Limited on 17 December 2015. 

Before his appointment to Ten, Mr Boorman held a number of senior roles 
across leading companies in the telecommunications and media sectors 
in Australia and overseas. 

Mr Boorman’s experience includes positions as Group Chief Financial 
Officer at Seven West Media, Chief Financial Officer at Vodafone 
Hutchison Australia and Chief Financial Officer and Strategy Director at 
Vodafone Australia. Before moving to Australia in 2005, Mr Boorman 
worked with Vodafone as Chief Financial Officer in Ireland and held 
several positions with Vodafone in the UK. 
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Directors’ MeetingsDirectors’ MeetingsDirectors’ MeetingsDirectors’ Meetings    

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board Committee 
held during the year ended 31 August 2016, and the number of meetings attended by each 
Director were: 

DirectorDirectorDirectorDirector    
                    AlternateAlternateAlternateAlternate        
(if applicable)(if applicable)(if applicable)(if applicable)    

Date Date Date Date 
appointedappointedappointedappointed    

Date Date Date Date 
ResignedResignedResignedResigned    

Meeting of Meeting of Meeting of Meeting of 
DirectorsDirectorsDirectorsDirectors    

NominationNominationNominationNomination    
CommitteeCommitteeCommitteeCommittee    

Remuneration Remuneration Remuneration Remuneration 
CommitteeCommitteeCommitteeCommittee    

AuditAuditAuditAudit    and and and and 
RiskRiskRiskRisk    

CommitteeCommitteeCommitteeCommittee    

Meetings   A B A B A B A B 

CurrentCurrentCurrentCurrent           

Mr DL Gordon 1/04/2010 Continuing 13 13 6 6 4 4 2 2 

Ms DL Goodin 17/08/2016 Continuing 1 1 - - 1 1 - - 

Mr A Lancaster 25/07/2016 Continuing 2 2 - - 1 1 - - 

Ms SL McKenna 26/06/2012 Continuing 13 12 3 3 4 4 4 4 

     Mr BJ Long  20/10/2014 25/07/2016 - 1 - - - - - - 

Mr AJ Robb 25/07/2016 Continuing 2 2 - - 1 1 - - 

Mr PC Tonagh 30/03/2016 Continuing 7 6 3 3 1 1 - - 

PreviousPreviousPreviousPrevious           

Mr JJ Cowin 3/04/1998 16/12/2015 4 2 3 3 2 - - - 

     Mr PV Gleeson  22/11/2010 16/12/2015 - 2 - - - - - - 

Mr R Freudenstein 17/12/2015 30/03/2016 2 2 - - 1 1 - - 

Mr PV Gleeson 16/02/1998 17/08/2016 12 12 3 3 1 1 4 4 

Mr DD Hawkins 1/04/2010 16/12/2015 4 3 - - - - 1 1 

     Mr DL Gordon  24/11/2010 16/12/2015 - 1 - - - - - - 

Ms CW Holgate 1/04/2010 16/12/2015 4 3 - - 2 2 - - 

     Mr DL Gordon  14/12/2010 16/12/2015 - 1 - - - - - - 

Mr J Klepec 3/11/2014 25/07/2016 11 11 3 3 1 1 - - 

Mr BJ Long 1/07/2010 25/07/2016 11 6 6 5 3 2 2 2 

     Mr DL Gordon  21/06/2012 25/07/2016 - 5 - 1 - 1 - - 

 
A Number of meetings held during the year during which the Director was in office 
B Number of meetings attended 
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Remuneration ReportRemuneration ReportRemuneration ReportRemuneration Report 

The Directors present the 2016 remuneration report for Ten Network Holdings Limited, outlining 
key aspects of remuneration policy and framework, and remuneration awarded to Key 
Management Personnel this year. 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 
308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.  

    

Summary of 2016 OutcomesSummary of 2016 OutcomesSummary of 2016 OutcomesSummary of 2016 Outcomes 

The table below summarises the specific items that impacted remuneration during the Company’s 
2016 financial year which covers the period 1 September 2015 to 31 August 2016. 

Short term 
incentive scheme 

(STI) 

In the 2016 financial year, not all of the STI performance hurdles were met.  
Under the terms of the STI scheme, all three hurdles must be achieved 
before any payment is made. The Remuneration Committee agreed a 
discretionary bonus payment to certain executives to reflect their 
significant efforts over the past financial year in recognition that some 
targets were met and that there continues to be improvement in the 
performance of the Company despite the recent decline in the television 
advertising market.   

This improvement is evidenced through continued ratings and revenue 
growth in the 2016 year.  Ratings grew across key timeslots and 
demographics, with 2016 Total People ratings share up +0.7% to 25.4% 
(2015: 24.7%).  This has driven revenue share growth of +2.2% to 24.0% 
(2015: 21.8%).  These factors have led to an improvement in underlying 
EBITDA to $4.5m, up $16.5m from a $12.0m loss in 2015. 

Long term 
incentive scheme 

(LTI) 

Allocations of performance rights (described in Section (d) of the 
remuneration report) were made in 2016 under an amended Ten Executive 
Incentive Plan (TEIP) which was introduced following shareholder 
approval in December 2015.  All allocations made under this plan in the 
2016 financial year are subject to the satisfaction of revenue share and 
earnings per share (EPS) performance hurdles at the end of a 3 year 
performance period.   

During the year, senior executives were given the option to exchange their 
existing Loan Funded Shares (LFS) for the fair value equivalent of Rights 
issued under the amended TEIP. All current KMP participated in this 
exchange for their 2014 allocations of LFS, but chose to retain their 2015 
allocations. The impact on KMP’s LFS and Rights are disclosed in section 
(h) of the remuneration report.  

    

Contents of the Remuneration ReportContents of the Remuneration ReportContents of the Remuneration ReportContents of the Remuneration Report    

This remuneration report contains the following sections:  

a) Key Management Personnel (KMP) covered in this report 

b) Board Remuneration Committee 

c) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of executive remuneration 

d) Executive pay framework 

e) Relationship between remuneration and Company performance 

f) Non-executive Director remuneration 

g) Details of remuneration 

h) Details of share-based compensation and bonuses 

i) Equity instruments held by Key Management Personnel 

j) Service agreements. 
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(a)(a)(a)(a) Key Management Personnel (KMP) covered in this reportKey Management Personnel (KMP) covered in this reportKey Management Personnel (KMP) covered in this reportKey Management Personnel (KMP) covered in this report    

    

NonNonNonNon----executive Directorsexecutive Directorsexecutive Directorsexecutive Directors    

NAMENAMENAMENAME        NAMENAMENAMENAME    

CurrentCurrentCurrentCurrent    

Mr DL Gordon (Chairman)                               

Ms DL Goodin (from 17 Aug 2016) 

Mr A Lancaster (from 25 Jul 2016) 

 

PreviousPreviousPreviousPrevious    

Mr JJ Cowin (to 16 Dec 2015) 

Mr R Freudenstein (from 16 Dec 2015 to 30 Mar 2016) 

Mr PV Gleeson (to 17 Aug 2016) 

Mr DD Hawkins (to 16 Dec 2015)  

  

 Ms SL McKenna 

 Mr AJ Robb (from 25 Jul 2016) 

 Mr PC Tonagh (from 30 Mar 2016) 

   

   

 Ms CW Holgate (to 16 Dec 2015) 

 Mr J Klepec (to 25 Jul 2016) 

 Mr BJ Long (to 25 Jul 2016) 

 

    

Other (Executive) KMPOther (Executive) KMPOther (Executive) KMPOther (Executive) KMP    
    

        

NAMENAMENAMENAME    POSITIONPOSITIONPOSITIONPOSITION    

Mr PD Anderson Chief Executive Officer  

Mr DJ Boorman (from 2 Nov 2015) Chief Financial Officer  

Ms B McGarvey Chief Content Officer  
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(b)(b)(b)(b) Board Remuneration CommitteeBoard Remuneration CommitteeBoard Remuneration CommitteeBoard Remuneration Committee    

The Board Remuneration Committee (comprising all Board Directors) reviews remuneration and 
incentive policies and practices and provides specific recommendations to the Board on 
remuneration packages and other terms of employment for executive Directors and other senior 
executives.  Reviews are undertaken annually, taking into account competitor practices and 
performance.  The Board approves remuneration for executive Directors, other senior executives 
and non-executive Directors.   

The objective of the Company’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance 
is competitive and appropriate for the results delivered.  The framework aligns executive reward 
with achievement and sustainability of profit and the creation of value for shareholders.  The Board 
ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance 
practices: 

• Performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation 

• Transparency 

• Capital management 

 

(c)(c)(c)(c) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of executive remunerationPrinciples used to determine the nature and amount of executive remunerationPrinciples used to determine the nature and amount of executive remunerationPrinciples used to determine the nature and amount of executive remuneration    

The Company has in the current and in previous years consulted with external remuneration 
consultants to structure an executive remuneration framework that is intended to align with 
shareholders’ and executives’ interests.  

Alignment to shareholders’ interests is achieved by: 

• Having revenue share, net profit after tax and positive cash flow as core components of the 
Company’s short term incentive plan design and revenue share and EPS as core components 
of the Company’s long term incentive plan design  

• Including a focus on key non-financial drivers of value 

• Requiring that a proportion of executive pay be received as shares 

• Deferring vesting of shares subject to continued service and achievement of performance 
hurdles over a number of years 

• Only retaining the service of high performing executives who continue to deliver results 

Alignment to executives’ interests is achieved by: 

• Establishing a rewards basis that is fair given capability and experience 

• Reflecting individual and team performance 

• Providing a transparent structure for earning rewards 

• Providing recognition for contribution 

 

(d)    Executive pay fra(d)    Executive pay fra(d)    Executive pay fra(d)    Executive pay frameworkmeworkmeworkmework 

The framework for the year ending 31 August 2016 provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a 
blend of short and long term incentives.  As executives attain more accountability within the group, 
the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of “at risk” rewards. 

The current executive pay and reward framework has three components: 

• Base pay and benefits 

• Short term performance incentives 

• Long term incentives through participation in the Ten Executive Incentive Plan. 

The combination of these components comprises the executives’ total remuneration. 
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Base pay and benefitsBase pay and benefitsBase pay and benefitsBase pay and benefits    

Base pay is structured as fixed remuneration that may be delivered as a combination of cash, 
superannuation and salary packaged benefits, including motor vehicles. 

Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually. External remuneration consultants periodically 
provide analysis and advice to ensure base pay is set to reflect the market for a comparable role.  
Preference is given to matching pay with market levels of direct competitors if this information is 
available, rather than a broad based group of comparator companies. The Company must recruit 
and retain talent from a relatively small pool of candidates with industry experience. Given the size 
of the talent pool, senior executive roles attract a remuneration premium across the industry.   

The Company continues to benchmark its fixed pay against its direct competitors and this has 
highlighted that the Company’s KMPs are rewarded at lower levels than these direct competitors. 

Some executives have fixed annual base pay increases included as a term of their employment 
contract. Retirement benefits may be delivered under an accrued benefit superannuation fund 
sponsored by the Company or through contributions to a superannuation fund nominated by the 
executive. 

    

IncentivesIncentivesIncentivesIncentives    

Senior executives are entitled to a maximum contracted total incentive in addition to their total 
fixed remuneration and the amount of that maximum contracted total incentive is equal to a 
percentage of that total fixed remuneration. For the CEO, maximum contracted total incentive is 
$1m. For other KMP, it is 85% of fixed remuneration. The maximum contracted total incentive is 
divided into a short term and a long term incentive component.  

The short term incentive component for senior executives comprises 50% of the maximum 
contracted total incentive based on salary package in place at the end of the year. If the specified 
performance hurdles for the short term incentive component for the year are met, a cash award 
up to that amount will be paid.      

No short term incentives were awarded for the 2016 financial year as not all performance hurdles 
were met. The 2016 financial year performance hurdles related to improvements in revenue share, 
profitability and cash flow. All three hurdles must be achieved for a payment to be made. The 
Remuneration Committee agreed a discretionary bonus payment to certain executives to reflect 
their significant efforts over the past financial year, having achieved substantial improvements to 
the business. These improvements are evidenced through continued ratings and revenue growth 
and a return to an underlying positive Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 
(EBITDA) position in the 2016 year, despite the recent decline in the television advertising market.  

During the year Ten also fully transitioned its sales operations to MCN, completed an equity raising 
and established new program supply agreements with WIN Network and Southern Cross Media.  

The long term incentive component for senior executives is granted at the commencement of the 
year to which it relates and comprises 50% of the maximum contracted total incentive based on 
salary package at that time. An amendment to the long term incentive plan, the Ten Executive 
Incentive Plan (TEIP), was approved by shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting. The 
amended TEIP enables performance rights to be granted to eligible executives in lieu of the Loan 
Funded Shares issued under the previous scheme.  Both the current and previous long term 
incentive schemes are discussed in further detail in the following sections. The long term incentive 
plans were implemented for senior executives to bolster the Company’s remuneration framework 
and to ensure that the Company is able to attract, motivate, retain and incentivise highly skilled 
executives. The scheme is also designed to enhance the alignment between senior executive 
compensation, the performance of the Company and the creation of shareholder value. 

 

Assessing performance and claw-back of remuneration  

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assessing performance against key performance 
measures and determining the short and long term incentives to be paid.  To assist in this 
assessment, the Committee receives objective feedback on performance from management which 
is based on independently verifiable data, such as financial measures and individual performance 
against targets. 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED | Full Financial Report 2016                              Page 16 

In the event of serious misconduct or a material misstatement in the Company’s financial 
statements, the Remuneration Committee can cancel or defer performance-based remuneration 
and may also claw back performance-based remuneration paid in previous financial years. 

Further details on short and long term incentives are provided in the following pages. 

Short Term IncentivesShort Term IncentivesShort Term IncentivesShort Term Incentives 

Short Term Incentives (STI) are available through cash bonuses to certain executives as 
determined by the Remuneration Committee.  

No STI were awarded for the 2016 financial year as not all performance hurdles were met. The 2016 
financial year performance hurdles related to improvements in revenue share, profitability and cash 
flow. All three hurdles must be achieved before any payment is made. The Remuneration 
Committee agreed a discretionary bonus payment to certain executives to reflect their significant 
efforts over the past financial year, having achieved substantial improvements to the business. 
These included delivering ratings growth across key timeslots and demographics, with 2016 Total 
People ratings share up +0.7% to 25.4% (2015: 24.7%).   This has driven revenue share growth of 
+2.2% to 24.0% (2015: 21.8%), returning the company to an underlying positive Earnings Before 
Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) position, despite the recent decline in the 
television advertising market.  

During the year Ten also fully transitioned its sales operations to MCN, completed an equity raising 
and established new program supply agreements with WIN Network and Southern Cross Media.  

Details of STI entitlements and discretionary bonus payments for 2016 made are set out below:  

 

STI targets for executives and senior managers are established in each financial year as agreed 
with the Chief Executive Officer and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee. The Chief 
Executive Officer’s targets are recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by 
the Board. Key performance measures include revenue share, net profit after tax and positive cash 
flow, together with Company-wide and role specific objectives to ensure variable rewards meet or 
exceed shareholder and Board underlying EBITDA expectations for the fiscal year. Performance 
against these measures is considered in an annual review. 

EXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVEEXECUTIVE    KMP KEY PERFORMANCE KMP KEY PERFORMANCE KMP KEY PERFORMANCE KMP KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES FOR THE 201MEASURES FOR THE 201MEASURES FOR THE 201MEASURES FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR6 FINANCIAL YEAR6 FINANCIAL YEAR6 FINANCIAL YEAR    

Chief Executive 
Officer 

Revenue share, net profit after tax, positive cash flow, corporate 
development, financial management and revenue generation, ratings 
and digital performance, government policy, leadership and 
accountability objectives 

Chief Financial 
Officer  

Revenue share, net profit after tax, positive cash flow, company financial 
management and revenue management, leadership and accountability 
objectives  

Chief Content 
Officer  

Revenue share, net profit after tax, positive cash flow, network program 
strategy and ratings performance, program development, financial 
management, leadership and accountability objectives  

    

    

2012012012016666    

MAXIMUM MAXIMUM MAXIMUM MAXIMUM 
POTENTIAL STI POTENTIAL STI POTENTIAL STI POTENTIAL STI 
ENENENENTITLEMENTTITLEMENTTITLEMENTTITLEMENT    

$$$$    

STI PAYABLESTI PAYABLESTI PAYABLESTI PAYABLE    

$$$$    

DISCRETIONARYDISCRETIONARYDISCRETIONARYDISCRETIONARY    
CASH BONUS CASH BONUS CASH BONUS CASH BONUS     

PAPAPAPAIDIDIDID    

$$$$    

PD Anderson 500,000 - 380,000 

DJ Boorman  
(pro-rata from 2 Nov 2015)  

247,917 - 171,104 

B McGarvey  361,250 - 270,000 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED | Full Financial Report 2016                              Page 17 

Long Term IncentivesLong Term IncentivesLong Term IncentivesLong Term Incentives    

Ten Executive Incentive Plan 2016  

Following feedback from shareholders and after obtaining professional advice which included 
investigating other long term incentive plan options, the Company decided to amend the Ten 
Executive Incentive Plan (TEIP) to provide for the grant of Performance Rights (Rights) for 2016 
and future long term incentive allocations, in lieu of the issue of Loan Funded Shares (LFS). The 
amended TEIP was approved by shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting. 

Senior executives will receive the long term component of their maximum contracted total 
incentive in the form of Rights under the TEIP, although the Remuneration Committee will have 
the ultimate discretion to determine the individual allocations under the TEIP. Each Right will entitle 
the participant to receive, following satisfaction of any vesting conditions and/or performance 
hurdles, one ordinary share or, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, a right to receive 
a cash payment in lieu of an ordinary share. If applicable vesting conditions and/or performance 
hurdles are not met, the Rights will lapse. 

Participants will receive a number of Rights determined by dividing the dollar value of their award 
by the Company’s volume weighted average price of shares (VWAP) at the close of trading over 
a 20 day trading period up to and including the last day of the Company’s previous financial year. 
This may be different to the fair value at the date of grant which is used as the basis for accounting 
expenses. 

The relevant Rights will be subject to the satisfaction of revenue share and earnings per share 
(EPS) performance hurdles at the end of a 3 year performance period. No re-testing of the 
performance hurdles will apply. Details of these hurdles are commercially sensitive and as such, 
further details will be provided to shareholders after the expiry of the 3 year performance period.   

The Rights do not carry voting rights, dividend rights or rights to capital until the Rights have 
vested and the participant has exercised the Rights and holds shares. 

During the year, Rights were also issued as a result of an exchange of Loan Funded Shares under 
an ‘employee share scheme buy-back’. Further details are provided below. 

 

Ten Executive Incentive Plan 2014 & 2015 (suspended) 

This plan was established during 2014 following shareholder approval in December 2013. It applied 
to 2014 and 2015 long term incentive allocations, after which the plan was suspended and replaced 
with an amended TEIP (discussed above).  Under the suspended Ten Executive Incentive Plan 
(suspended TEIP), eligible senior executives were permitted to borrow from the Company or a 
subsidiary, an agreed amount and use that amount to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company 
to be newly issued (Loan Funded Shares or LFS). Amounts lent under the suspended TEIP are in 
the form of limited recourse loans so that, should the market value of the Company’s shares, at the 
time the LFS are withdrawn from the plan, fall below the market value at the time of issue of the 
LFS, or fail to satisfy the performance hurdles in the plan, participants will not have to meet any 
shortfall. 

The LFS were issued at market value on or around the commencement of the Company’s financial 
year. The number of LFS to which a senior executive was entitled was calculated by dividing the 
long term component of the executive’s incentive by the fair value of a LFS as determined by the 
Remuneration Committee after taking professional advice.   

The release of the LFS issued under the suspended TEIP is conditional on satisfaction of revenue 
share and EPS performance hurdles at the end of a 3 year performance period.  

The performance period for the 2014 LFS grant ended on 31 August 2016. Performance was 
assessed against the following performance hurdles: 

• 50% conditional on achievement of 26.6% - 27.0% revenue share (Actual 24.0%) 
• 50% conditional on achievement of $0 - $0.04 EPS (Actual EPS loss of $0.46) 

These performance hurdles were not met and as such, associated LFS have been forfeited and 
cancelled in accordance with the TEIP rules, the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. 
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Exchange of LFS for Rights 

Following the approval of the updated long term incentive plan (TEIP), a process to buy-back and 
cancel existing LFS was completed in accordance with the plan rules, the Corporations Act and 
the ASX Listing Rules.  The buy-back was conducted as an ‘employee share scheme buy-back’ in 
accordance with Division 2 of Part 2J.1 of the Corporations Act, and did not require shareholder 
approval as the suspended TEIP was approved at Ten’s 2013 annual general meeting for these 
purposes.  

Under the employee scheme buy-back, senior executives were given the option to exchange their 
LFS for Rights issued under the amended TEIP. The exchange was based on the LFS’s fair value at 
the time of the buy-back. All current KMP participated in the exchange of their 2014 LFS allocation 
for Rights issued under the amended TEIP, but chose to retain their 2015 allocations. The impact 
of this is disclosed in section (h) of the remuneration report.  

    

(e)(e)(e)(e) Relationship between remuneration and Company performance Relationship between remuneration and Company performance Relationship between remuneration and Company performance Relationship between remuneration and Company performance     

Company performance is tabulated below:  

    TEN NETWORK HOLDINGSTEN NETWORK HOLDINGSTEN NETWORK HOLDINGSTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS    PERFORMANCE 2012 PERFORMANCE 2012 PERFORMANCE 2012 PERFORMANCE 2012 ––––    2016201620162016    

    2016201620162016    2222015015015015    2014201420142014    2013201320132013    2012201220122012    

Underlying EBITDA ($m) Underlying EBITDA ($m) Underlying EBITDA ($m) Underlying EBITDA ($m) A    4.5 (12.0) (79.3) 42.9 94.0 

Dividends Paid (cps)Dividends Paid (cps)Dividends Paid (cps)Dividends Paid (cps)    0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.25 

Underlying EPS (cps) Underlying EPS (cps) Underlying EPS (cps) Underlying EPS (cps) A, B    (9.4) (19.1) (44.6) (2.3) 8.7 

Share Price (As at 31 August)Share Price (As at 31 August)Share Price (As at 31 August)Share Price (As at 31 August)    B 1.33 1.85 2.55 3.05 3.85 

Total KMP cash bonus as Total KMP cash bonus as Total KMP cash bonus as Total KMP cash bonus as a a a a 
percentage of underlying EBITDApercentage of underlying EBITDApercentage of underlying EBITDApercentage of underlying EBITDA    
(EBITDA Loss)(EBITDA Loss)(EBITDA Loss)(EBITDA Loss)    

18.2% (2.3%) 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 

Total KMP LTI accounting expenses Total KMP LTI accounting expenses Total KMP LTI accounting expenses Total KMP LTI accounting expenses 
as a percentage of underlying as a percentage of underlying as a percentage of underlying as a percentage of underlying 
EBITDAEBITDAEBITDAEBITDA    

21.5%C (17.3%)C (1.0%)C 0.0% 0.9% 

 

A Underlying EBITDA, and underlying EPS is before individually significant items 2012 – 2016.  

B Underlying EPS and share prices in prior years have been restated to reflect the consolidation of the 
Company’s issued capital on the basis of one share for every existing ten shares.  

C These amounts are accounting expenses only and were not realised as remuneration to KMP in these years.  
The accounting expenses relate to Rights and LFS which are subject to performance hurdles over a 3 year 
performance period and are therefore being expensed evenly over those 3 years.  The first measurement 
date for LFS was 2016 (for 2014 grants) and will be 2017 (for 2015 grants).  The measurement date for Rights 
will be 2018 (for 2016 grants). The calculation above excludes the acceleration of accounting expenses 
included in termination payments for 2015 of $2,533,131 which are significant in nature. 
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(f)(f)(f)(f) NonNonNonNon----executive Director remunerationexecutive Director remunerationexecutive Director remunerationexecutive Director remuneration    

The Nomination Committee has responsibility for reviewing and recommending the level of 
remuneration for non-executive Directors in relation to Board and Committee duties.  The Board 
approves the allocation of remuneration to non-executive Directors.  

The non-executive Directors do not participate in any share option plans or receive performance-
related remuneration. 

Remuneration for non-executive Directors consists of annual fees, which include superannuation 
contributions, made in accordance with the superannuation guarantee legislation, for the Directors 
performing their duties on the Board of the Company and on various committees. 

There are no retirement allowances for non-executive Directors. 

Total remuneration for all non-executive Directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 2007 
AGM, is not to exceed $1 million per annum.  Actual total remuneration during 2016 was $826,373.  
Fees and payments to non-executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the 
responsibilities of, the Directors. The structure of these fees is shown in the following table. 

 

 

A This reflects fees payable to Mr DL Gordon as Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee. 

  

                                                EFFECTIVE FROM EFFECTIVE FROM EFFECTIVE FROM EFFECTIVE FROM     

17 DECEMBER 201517 DECEMBER 201517 DECEMBER 201517 DECEMBER 2015        

EFFECTIVEEFFECTIVEEFFECTIVEEFFECTIVE    

27272727    JULY 2015JULY 2015JULY 2015JULY 2015    
        CHAIRMAN 

OF  
BOARD 

CHAIRMAN 
OF AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 
MEMBER CHAIRMAN 

DEPUTY 
CHAIRMAN 

MEMBER 

Board $250,000 A $150,000 $100,000 $250,000 A $99,000 $81,000 

Remuneration - - - $7,000 - $5,000 

Audit - - - $10,000 - $7,000 
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(g)(g)(g)(g) Details of remunerationDetails of remunerationDetails of remunerationDetails of remuneration    

Directors of the CompanyDirectors of the CompanyDirectors of the CompanyDirectors of the Company    

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director of the 
Company during their period of service for the year ended 31 August 2016 and 2015 are set out in 
the following table.  

SHORTSHORTSHORTSHORT----TERM TERM TERM TERM 
BENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITS    

POSTPOSTPOSTPOST----
EMPLOYMENT EMPLOYMENT EMPLOYMENT EMPLOYMENT 

BENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITS    

    

NAMENAMENAMENAME    

    
    

            PERIOD OF PERIOD OF PERIOD OF PERIOD OF 
SERVICESERVICESERVICESERVICE    

    
YEARYEARYEARYEAR    

CASHCASHCASHCASH    SALARY SALARY SALARY SALARY 
AND FEESAND FEESAND FEESAND FEES    

$$$$    

SUPERSUPERSUPERSUPER----
ANNUATIONANNUATIONANNUATIONANNUATION    

$$$$    
TOTALTOTALTOTALTOTAL    

$$$$    
Current DirectorsCurrent DirectorsCurrent DirectorsCurrent Directors    

Mr DL Gordon Full Year 2016201620162016    229,944229,944229,944229,944    20,05620,05620,05620,056    250,000250,000250,000250,000    

  2015 94,877 9,013 103,890 

Ms DL Goodin 
From 17 Aug 
2016 

2016201620162016    5,6145,6145,6145,614    533533533533    6,1476,1476,1476,147    

Mr A Lancaster 
From 25 Jul 
2016 

2016201620162016    9,4829,4829,4829,482    901901901901    10,38310,38310,38310,383    

Ms SL McKenna  Full Year 2016201620162016 97,95497,95497,95497,954 ---- 97,95497,95497,95497,954 

  2015 93,000 - 93,000 

Mr AJ Robb 
From 25 Jul 
2016 

2016201620162016    9,4829,4829,4829,482    901901901901    10,38310,38310,38310,383    

Mr PC Tonagh  
From 30 Mar 
2016 

2016201620162016    42,35042,35042,35042,350    ----    42,35042,35042,35042,350    

PreviousPreviousPreviousPrevious    DirectorsDirectorsDirectorsDirectors    

Mr JJ Cowin To 16 Dec 2016 2016201620162016    22,96122,96122,96122,961    2,1812,1812,1812,181    25,14225,14225,14225,142    

  2015 78,619 7,469 86,088 

Mr R Freudenstein 
16 Dec 2015 to    
30 Mar 2016 

2016201620162016    26,2026,2026,2026,200000    2,4892,4892,4892,489    28,68928,68928,68928,689    

Mr PV Gleeson To 17 Aug 2016 2016201620162016    115,994115,994115,994115,994    11,01911,01911,01911,019    127,013127,013127,013127,013    

  2015 83,105 7,895 91,000 

Mr DD Hawkins To 16 Dec 2016 2016201620162016    23,49523,49523,49523,495    2,2322,2322,2322,232    25,72725,72725,72725,727    

  2015 80,365 7,635 88,000 

Ms CW Holgate To 16 Dec 2016 2016201620162016    22,96122,96122,96122,961    2,1812,1812,1812,181    25,14225,14225,14225,142    

  2015 78,539 7,461 86,000 

Mr J Klepec To 25 Jul 2016 2016201620162016    77,01977,01977,01977,019    7,3177,3177,3177,317    84,33684,33684,33684,336    

  2015 61,205 5,814 67,019 

Mr BJ Long To 25 Jul 2016 2016201620162016    85,02985,02985,02985,029    8,0788,0788,0788,078    93,10793,10793,10793,107    

  2015 101,370 9,630 111,000 

Mr PR Mallam  2015    19,816    1,883    21,699    

Ms GH Rinehart    2015 12,363 1,174 13,537 

Total Total Total Total             2016201620162016 768,485768,485768,485768,485    57,88857,88857,88857,888    826,373826,373826,373826,373    

  2015 703,259 57,974 761,233 

During the year ended 31 August 2016, Mr DD Hawkins provided $49,551 of arms-length consulting 
services to the Company.  Other than this, no other remuneration payments were made to 
Directors or their related entities. 
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Other Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated EntityOther Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated EntityOther Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated EntityOther Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated Entity    

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of Key Management Personnel of the consolidated entity during their period of service for 
the year ended 31 August 2016 and 2015 are set out in the following table. 

 

2016201620162016        
SHORTSHORTSHORTSHORT----TERM TERM TERM TERM 

BENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITS    
        

POST POST POST POST 
EMPLOYEMPLOYEMPLOYEMPLOY----

MENT MENT MENT MENT 
BENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITSBENEFITS    

                                                                TERMINATION BENEFITSTERMINATION BENEFITSTERMINATION BENEFITSTERMINATION BENEFITS        

    

    

    
    

NAMENAMENAMENAME    

    
    

YEARYEARYEARYEAR    

CASH CASH CASH CASH 
SALARY SALARY SALARY SALARY 

AND FEESAND FEESAND FEESAND FEES    
$$$$    

    
DISCREDISCREDISCREDISCRE----
TIONARYTIONARYTIONARYTIONARY    

CASHCASHCASHCASH    
    BONUSBONUSBONUSBONUS    

    $$$$    

SUPERSUPERSUPERSUPER----
ANNUATIONANNUATIONANNUATIONANNUATION    

$$$$    

SUBSUBSUBSUB----
TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL 

$$$$    

    
ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL 

AND LONG AND LONG AND LONG AND LONG 
SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE 
LEAVELEAVELEAVELEAVE    

$$$$    

SALARY SALARY SALARY SALARY 
AND SUPERAND SUPERAND SUPERAND SUPER----
ANNUATIONANNUATIONANNUATIONANNUATION    

$$$$    

    
ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL ANNUAL 
LEAVE  LEAVE  LEAVE  LEAVE  

$$$$    

    
OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER 

PAYMENTS     PAYMENTS     PAYMENTS     PAYMENTS     
$$$$    

    
SUBSUBSUBSUB----TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL 

––––    PAID/ PAID/ PAID/ PAID/ 
PAYABLEPAYABLEPAYABLEPAYABLE    

$$$$    

    
OPTIONS OPTIONS OPTIONS OPTIONS 

AND AND AND AND 
RIGHTS RIGHTS RIGHTS RIGHTS AAAA    

$$$$    
TOTALTOTALTOTALTOTALBBBB    

$$$$    

Mr PD Anderson D 2016201620162016    1,241,7061,241,7061,241,7061,241,706    380,000380,000380,000380,000    28,58428,58428,58428,584    1,650,2901,650,2901,650,2901,650,290    57,01557,01557,01557,015    ----    ----    ----    1,707,3051,707,3051,707,3051,707,305    555545,76545,76545,76545,765    2,253,0702,253,0702,253,0702,253,070    

 2015    1,040,118    160,000    30,172    1,230,290 25,576 - - - 1,255,866 462,146    1,718,012    

Mr DJ Boorman 
(from 2 Nov 2015)  

2016201620162016    542,192542,192542,192542,192    171,104171,104171,104171,104    16,14116,14116,14116,141    729,437729,437729,437729,437    26,53126,53126,53126,531    ----    ----    ----    755,968755,968755,968755,968    36,54936,54936,54936,549    777799992222,,,,555511117777    

Ms B McGarvey E  2016201620162016    795,415795,415795,415795,415    270,000270,000270,000270,000    21,25221,25221,25221,252    1,081,081,081,086,6676,6676,6676,667    46,17446,17446,17446,174    ----    ----    ----    1,132,8411,132,8411,132,8411,132,841    385,836385,836385,836385,836    1111,,,,555511118888,,,,666677777777    

 2015 681,129    112,500    18,871    812,500 45,319 -    -    -    857,819 332,375    1,190,194    

Mr HR McLennan 2015 1,793,155 - 17,262 1,810,417 (4,667) 1,975,000 189,904 250,000 C 4,220,654 3,820,269 C 8,040,923 

Total  2016201620162016 2222,,,,579579579579,,,,313313313313    821,104821,104821,104821,104    66665555,,,,977977977977    3333,,,,466466466466,,,,394394394394    129129129129,,,,720720720720    ----    ----    ----    3333,,,,596,114596,114596,114596,114    968,150968,150968,150968,150    4444,,,,564564564564,,,,264264264264    

 2015 3,514,402 272,500 66,305 3,853,207 66,228 1,975,000 189,904 250,000 6,334,339 4,614,790 10,949,129 

A The amounts disclosed in the table above represent the accounting impact for Loan Funded Shares (LFS) and Rights recognised in line with AASB 2 Share-Based Payment and 
do not necessarily reflect the amount of remuneration a KMP will realise at the end of the 3 year performance period.  

B The 2016 and 2015 remuneration that is performance-related for the KMPs is the AASB2 Share Based Payment expense for the options and Rights set out in the above table and 
discretionary cash bonuses.  The accounting expense for these performance related items as a percentage of total remuneration is: Mr PD Anderson 41.1% (2015: 36.2%), Mr DJ 
Boorman 26.2% and Ms B McGarvey 43.2% (2015: 37.4%). 

C This included an estimate of $452,604 for Mr HR McLennan’s pro-rata contractual entitlement to participate in the 2016 LTI plan. Actual expenses were $200,064, representing   
 the fair value of Rights received on grant date. Other payments included a negotiated termination payment which was made on 27 July 2016. 

D  On 27 July 2015, Mr PD Anderson was appointed as Chief Executive Officer, having previously held the  position of Chief Operating Officer / Chief Financial Officer. 

E   Effective 1 January 2016,  Ms B McGarvey commenced a new employment contract. The base pay under this new agreement was benchmarked against industry competitors.
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(h)(h)(h)(h) Details of shareDetails of shareDetails of shareDetails of share----based compensation and bonusesbased compensation and bonusesbased compensation and bonusesbased compensation and bonuses    

(i) Performance Rights 

Details of Performance Rights (Rights) provided as remuneration to KMP in 2016 are shown below. Refer 
to section (d) of this report for details on exercise and vesting conditions.  

2016201620162016    

FINANCIAL FINANCIAL FINANCIAL FINANCIAL 
YEAR YEAR YEAR YEAR 

GRANGRANGRANGRANTEDTEDTEDTED    

YEARS IN YEARS IN YEARS IN YEARS IN 
WHICH RIGHTSWHICH RIGHTSWHICH RIGHTSWHICH RIGHTS    

MAY MAY MAY MAY BE BE BE BE 
CONVERTED IF CONVERTED IF CONVERTED IF CONVERTED IF 

THEY VESTTHEY VESTTHEY VESTTHEY VEST    

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF NUMBER OF NUMBER OF 
RIGHTSRIGHTSRIGHTSRIGHTS    

GRANTEDGRANTEDGRANTEDGRANTED    A 

    

CONTRACTED CONTRACTED CONTRACTED CONTRACTED 
VALUE OF VALUE OF VALUE OF VALUE OF 

RIGHTS  RIGHTS  RIGHTS  RIGHTS  
(((($$$$))))    A    

VALUE OF VALUE OF VALUE OF VALUE OF 
RIGHTSRIGHTSRIGHTSRIGHTS    AT AT AT AT 

GRANT DATEGRANT DATEGRANT DATEGRANT DATE
($) ($) ($) ($) B

Mr PD Anderson 2016 2018 248,756 500,000 248,756 

Mr DJ Boorman  2016 2018 116,294 233,750 116,294 

Ms BA McGarvey  2016 2018 158,582 318,750 158,582 

A In 2016, eligible senior executives were granted Rights under the amended Ten Executive Incentive Plan (TEIP) in 
respect of the financial year ending 31 August 2016. The allocation was calculated at a value of $2.01 (being the 
20-day VWAP to 31 August 2015, restated for the one for ten share consolidation of the Company’s shares). 

B The amendment to the TEIP enabling the grant of Rights was approved at the 2015 AGM. Following this, Rights 
were granted on 23 February 2016.  In line with AASB 2 Share-Based Payment, the Rights are being expensed at 
fair value on grant date, being the Company’s share price on 23 February 2016 of $1.00.   

No Performance Rights were forfeited during the year. 

Hamish McLennan, a KMP in the prior year, was issued and retains 200,064 Rights with a fair value at 
grant date of $200,064.    

(ii) Loan Funded Shares (LFS) 

LFS are no longer being granted as long term incentives. From 2016, they were replaced by Rights as 
disclosed in (ii) above. 

The terms and conditions of LFS granted in previous years which affect KMP remuneration in the current 
or a future reporting period are as follows: 

GRANT GRANT GRANT GRANT 
DATEDATEDATEDATE    

VESTING VESTING VESTING VESTING 
DATEDATEDATEDATE    

% OF % OF % OF % OF 
GRANTGRANTGRANTGRANT    

EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE 
DATEDATEDATEDATE    

EXPIRY EXPIRY EXPIRY EXPIRY 
DATEDATEDATEDATE    

EXEREXEREXEREXER----
CISE CISE CISE CISE 

PRICEPRICEPRICEPRICE    A    

VALUE VALUE VALUE VALUE 
PER PER PER PER 

LFS AT LFS AT LFS AT LFS AT 
GRANT GRANT GRANT GRANT 
DATEDATEDATEDATE    A    

PERFORPERFORPERFORPERFOR----
MANCE MANCE MANCE MANCE 

ACHIEVEDACHIEVEDACHIEVEDACHIEVED    
% % % % 

VESTEDVESTEDVESTEDVESTED    

18/12/13 31/08/16 60% 31/08/16 27/02/17 $3.319 $1.02 No 0% 

  20% 31/08/17 27/02/18 $3.319 $1.02 No 0% 

  20% 31/08/18 27/02/19 $3.319 $1.02 No 0% 

3/09/14 31/08/17 60% 31/08/16 27/02/18 $2.568 $0.94 
To be 

determined 
0% 

  20% 31/08/17 27/02/19 $2.568 $0.94 
To be 

determined 
0% 

  20% 31/08/18 27/02/20 $2.568 $0.94 
To be 

determined 
0% 

A  Prices have been restated to reflect the consolidation of the Company’s issued capital on the basis of one share 
for every existing ten shares.  

Loan Funded Shares granted under the plan incur interest equal to the cash amount of dividends paid 
on the LFS. 

The performance period for the 2014 LFS grant ended on 31 August 2016 and the performance hurdles 
were not met. The conditions under which LFS held by Hamish McLennan (a KMP in the prior year) 
operate are disclosed in section (i) on the following page. Remaining KMP participated in the exchange 
of their 2014 LFS allocation for the fair value equivalent of Rights issued under the amended TEIP. Other 
LFS have been forfeited and cancelled as a result.    
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((((iiii))))    Equity instruments held by Key Management PersonnelEquity instruments held by Key Management PersonnelEquity instruments held by Key Management PersonnelEquity instruments held by Key Management Personnel    
    
The number of LFS in this section have been restated to reflect the consolidation of the Company’s 
issued capital on the basis of one share for every existing ten shares.    

(i) Performance Rights (Rights) and Loan Funded Shares (LFS) holdings:  

The number of Rights and LFS granted to KMP are set out below. 

2016201620162016    
BALANCE BALANCE BALANCE BALANCE 

AT THE AT THE AT THE AT THE 
START START START START 
OF THE OF THE OF THE OF THE 
YEARYEARYEARYEAR    

GRANTED AS GRANTED AS GRANTED AS GRANTED AS 
COMPENSATIONCOMPENSATIONCOMPENSATIONCOMPENSATION    

EXCHANGE EXCHANGE EXCHANGE EXCHANGE 
OF LFS TO OF LFS TO OF LFS TO OF LFS TO 

RIGHTSRIGHTSRIGHTSRIGHTS    

BALABALABALABALANCE NCE NCE NCE 
AT THE AT THE AT THE AT THE 
END OF END OF END OF END OF 

THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR ----    
UNVESTEDUNVESTEDUNVESTEDUNVESTED    

VALUE AT VALUE AT VALUE AT VALUE AT 
GRANT GRANT GRANT GRANT 
DATEDATEDATEDATE    

($)($)($)($)    NAMENAMENAMENAME    

Mr PD Anderson      

- Rights - 248,756 3,222 251,978 251,978 

- LFS      

    2015 1,000,199 - - 1,000,199 940,188 

    2014 437,500 - (437,500) - 446,250 

Mr DJ Boorman            

- Rights - 116,294 - 116,294 116,294 

Ms B McGarvey            

- Rights - 158,582 2,762 161,344 161,344 

- LFS      

    2015 653,856 - - 653,856 614,625 

    2014 375,000 - (375,000) - 382,500 

None of the Rights or LFS are exercisable as at 31 August 2016. 

Hamish McLennan was a KMP in the previous year. On his termination date of 27 July 2016, the 
performance hurdles applicable to his 2014 and 2015 LFS grants were waived. As a result, the loans 
payable on those LFS are due to be paid by not later than 23 January 2017, or the LFS will be forfeited 
and the relevant shares cancelled. The number of LFS that remain outstanding as at balance date are 
1,452,206 for 2014 and 2,532,091 for 2015. The current market value of these LFS are below the 
associated loan amounts advanced to acquire these shares, therefore it is expected that the loans will 
not be repaid and that the LFS will be forfeited accordingly.   

(ii) Share holdings 

The number of ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by KMP of the 
consolidated entity for the year ended 31 August 2016, including their personally-related entities, are 
set out below.  

    2016201620162016    
NAME NAME NAME NAME     

BALANCE AT BALANCE AT BALANCE AT BALANCE AT 
THE START OF THE START OF THE START OF THE START OF 

THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR     

CHANGES CHANGES CHANGES CHANGES 
DURING THE DURING THE DURING THE DURING THE 

YYYYEAREAREAREAR    

BALANCE AT THE BALANCE AT THE BALANCE AT THE BALANCE AT THE 
END OEND OEND OEND OF THE F THE F THE F THE 

YEARYEARYEARYEAR    

Directors of Ten Network Holdings Directors of Ten Network Holdings Directors of Ten Network Holdings Directors of Ten Network Holdings LimitedLimitedLimitedLimited    

Mr DL Gordon 24,750 4,683  29,433 

Other Key Management Personnel of the consolidated entityOther Key Management Personnel of the consolidated entityOther Key Management Personnel of the consolidated entityOther Key Management Personnel of the consolidated entity                

Mr PD Anderson 54,818 (15,706) 39,112 

Ms B McGarvey 37,870 - 37,870 
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The following previous Directors of the Company held shares as at the date they ceased to be a KMP: 

Mr JJ Cowin (to 16 December 2015): 294,324 ordinary shares. 

Mr PV Gleeson (to 17 August 2016): 370,994 ordinary shares.  

Mr DD Hawkins (to 16 December 2015): 16,054 ordinary shares. 

Mr CW Holgate (to 16 December 2015): 6,992 ordinary shares. 

Mr BJ Long (to 25 July 2016): 63,414 ordinary shares. 

 ((((jjjj)     )     )     )     Service AgreementsService AgreementsService AgreementsService Agreements    

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Key Management Personnel of the consolidated 
entity are formalised in service agreements.  Each of these agreements provide for the provision of short 
term performance-related incentives, other benefits including car leases and participation when eligible, in 
the Ten Executive Incentive Plan.  Major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out 
below.    

    
Paul Anderson, Chief Executive OfficerPaul Anderson, Chief Executive OfficerPaul Anderson, Chief Executive OfficerPaul Anderson, Chief Executive Officer    

Term of Agreement – rolling contract commencing 27 July 2015 

• Effective 27 July 2015 fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation, is $1,250,000.  On achievement 
of certain cash flow targets on a 12 month rolling basis fixed remuneration will increase to $1,450,000 
and $1,650,000 (subject to the refinancing of the $200m Revolving Cash Facility and the release of the 
Shareholder Guarantees).  

• Short term and long term incentives are available.  The below sets out the potential value for future 
financial years. This is planned to be split evenly between short term and long term incentives:  

FINANCIAL YEARFINANCIAL YEARFINANCIAL YEARFINANCIAL YEAR    2017201720172017    2018 ONWARDS2018 ONWARDS2018 ONWARDS2018 ONWARDS    

STI/LTI in total $1,000,000 $1,250,000 - $1,650,000 A 

A Final amount is dependent on achievement of key financial and non-financial objectives which will be measured 
on a 12 month rolling basis. 

• Long term incentives are available through participation in the Ten Executive Incentive Plan on 
achievement of performance hurdles with a 3 year vesting period, primarily linked to the financial 
performance of the Group. 

• Either party may terminate the contract at any time by providing twelve months' notice.  

• Immediate termination by the Company for cause or breach of contract is restricted to fixed 
remuneration and leave unpaid at the date of termination. 

    
Dave Boorman, Chief Financial OfficerDave Boorman, Chief Financial OfficerDave Boorman, Chief Financial OfficerDave Boorman, Chief Financial Officer    

Term of agreement – rolling contract commencing 2 November 2015. 

• Effective 2 November 2015 fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation, was $650,000. 

• Effective 1 May 2016, fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation is $700,000.  

• Short term incentives are available on achievement of specific STI targets primarily linked to the 
financial performance of the Group and inclusive of leadership and corporate objectives. 

• Long term incentives are available through participation in the Ten Executive Incentive Plan on 
achievement of performance hurdles with a 3 year vesting period, primarily linked towards the financial 
performance of the Group. 

• Total remuneration from short term and long term incentives is capped at 85% of fixed remuneration. 

• Either party may terminate the contract at any time by providing six months’ notice. 

• Immediate termination by the Company for cause or breach of contract is restricted to fixed 
remuneration and leave unpaid at the date of termination. 
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Beverley McGarvey, Chief Beverley McGarvey, Chief Beverley McGarvey, Chief Beverley McGarvey, Chief ContentContentContentContent    OfficerOfficerOfficerOfficer    

Term of agreement – fixed two year contract commencing 1 January 2016 

• Effective 1 January 2016 fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation, is $850,000. 

• Short term incentives are available on achievement of specific STI targets primarily linked to the 
financial performance of the Group and inclusive of leadership and corporate objectives. 

• Long term incentives are available through participation in the Ten Executive Incentive Plan on 
achievement of performance hurdles with a 3 year vesting period, primarily linked towards the financial 
performance of the Group. 

• Total remuneration from short term and long term incentives is capped at 85% of fixed remuneration. 

• There is no notice period for termination due to the fixed-term nature of the contract. 

• Immediate termination by the Company for cause or breach of contract is restricted to fixed 
remuneration and leave unpaid at the date of termination. 
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NonNonNonNon----Audit ServiAudit ServiAudit ServiAudit Services ces ces ces     

The consolidated entity may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit 
duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the consolidated entity are 
important. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-audit 
services provided during the year are set out below. 

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the 
Audit and Risk Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the 
general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The Directors are 
satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

• All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee to ensure they do not 
impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor 

• None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the 
consolidated entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms: 

 

 

 

 

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

$$$$ $$$$

(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia

Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the 

Corporations Act 2001
528,900 439,500

Other audit related services 24,600 25,290

Taxation Services

Tax compliance services 94,791 206,970

Other services

Advisory services 212,904 110,453

Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 861,195861,195861,195861,195 782,213

(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia

Tax Compliance Services 26,284 24,812

Total remuneration of related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 26,284 24,812

Total auditors’ remunerationTotal auditors’ remunerationTotal auditors’ remunerationTotal auditors’ remuneration 887,479887,479887,479887,479 807,025

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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AuditorAuditorAuditorAuditor    

PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.    

AuditorAuditorAuditorAuditor''''s Independence Declarations Independence Declarations Independence Declarations Independence Declaration    

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out on page 29. 

Contracts with DirectorsContracts with DirectorsContracts with DirectorsContracts with Directors    

During the financial year, an agreement for consulting services as disclosed in the remuneration report was 
entered into with a Director. Additionally, various agreements in respect of the sale of television services 
and purchases relating to operating and financing services were entered into with Director-related entities 
on normal commercial terms and conditions.  The value of such transactions are at arm’s length and are 
detailed further in Note 20. 

Insurance of OfficersInsurance of OfficersInsurance of OfficersInsurance of Officers    

During the financial year, the Company arranged for directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover for 
officers of the Company and related parties.  An insurance premium was paid in relation thereto. The officers 
of the Company covered by this insurance includes all Directors and all employees in positions of 
responsibility. 

The Directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium 
paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ insurance contracts as such disclosure is prohibited under the 
terms of the contract. 

Indemnification of OfficersIndemnification of OfficersIndemnification of OfficersIndemnification of Officers    

The Company has entered into deeds to indemnify each Director of the Company in accordance with the 
approval given at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 7 December 1999. 

In broad terms, the deeds of indemnity entrench a Director’s rights to: 

• access the books and records of the Company which relate to the period the Director acted as a 
Director of the Company; 

• be indemnified by the Company to the maximum extent permitted by law; and 

• require the Company to take out an appropriate directors’ and officers’ insurance policy to protect the 
Director from liability (to the maximum extent permitted by law). 

Separately, a deed of indemnity has been provided by The Ten Group Pty Limited to Directors and officers 
of that Company and its controlled entities. 

Additionally, separate deeds of indemnity cover other executives of controlled entities who have been 
requested to act as directors on the boards of other companies in which the Group holds an interest. 

No liability has arisen under these indemnities at the date of this report. 

Environmental RegulationsEnvironmental RegulationsEnvironmental RegulationsEnvironmental Regulations    

The consolidated entity is not subject to significant environmental regulations.  
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Rounding of Amounts to Nearest Thousand DollarsRounding of Amounts to Nearest Thousand DollarsRounding of Amounts to Nearest Thousand DollarsRounding of Amounts to Nearest Thousand Dollars    

The Company is of a kind referred to in Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the "rounding off" of amounts in the directors report.  Amounts in the 
directors' report have been rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, 
or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 

 

Signed in Sydney on 20 October 2016 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

    

    

    

DL GordonDL GordonDL GordonDL Gordon    

Chairman 



 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY  NSW  1171 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 
   
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Ten Network Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 August 2016, I declare that 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit; and 

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Ten Network Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled during the period. 

 

 

 

Susan Horlin                   Sydney 
Partner                    20 October 2016 
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The Board of Directors of Ten Network Holdings Limited (“the Company”) is committed to achieving and 
demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance. The Company has reviewed its corporate 
governance practices against the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd edition) 
published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council. 

 

The 2016 corporate governance statement is dated as at 31 August 2016 and reflects the governance 
practices in place throughout the 2016 financial year. The 2016 corporate governance statement was 
approved by the Board on 19 October 2016. A description of the group's current corporate governance 
practices is set out in the group's corporate governance statement which can be viewed on the Company’s 
website at www.tenplay.com.au/corporate. 

 



STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2016 
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NOTENOTENOTENOTE

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Revenue 3 689,494 654,139

Other income 3 1,891 1,793

Net gain on sale of investments 3 23,128 1,311

Television costs (683,664) (655,620)

Out-of-home costs (15,455) (26,543)

Impairment of intangible assets 2 (135,179) (251,157)

Provision for onerous contracts 2  - (6,754)

Restructuring costs 2 (2,230) (6,283)

Write-down of other assets 2 (10,977)  -

Finance costs 4 (19,802) (16,669)

Share of net profit of associates accounted for using the equity 

method
9 1,135 733

(Loss) before income tax 5(b) (151,659) (305,050)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5(a) (2,742) (3,400)

(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year (154,401)(154,401)(154,401)(154,401) (308,450)(308,450)(308,450)(308,450)

(Loss)/ Profit is attributable to:

(Loss)/ Profit attributable to owners of the Company (156,806) (312,248)

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 2,405 3,798

(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year (154,401)(154,401)(154,401)(154,401) (308,450)(308,450)(308,450)(308,450)

Other comprehensive ( loss)/ incomeOther comprehensive ( loss)/ incomeOther comprehensive ( loss)/ incomeOther comprehensive ( loss)/ income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 17 1,263 1,023

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 17 (20,242) (2,206)

Income tax relating to these items 17 (379) (307)

Total comprehensive ( loss) for the year, net of taxTotal comprehensive ( loss) for the year, net of taxTotal comprehensive ( loss) for the year, net of taxTotal comprehensive ( loss) for the year, net of tax (173,759) (309,940)

Total comprehensive (loss) attributable to members of Ten Network 

Holdings Limited
(176,164) (313,738)

Total comprehensive profit attributable to non-controlling interests 2,405 3,798

(173,759)(173,759)(173,759)(173,759) (309,940)(309,940)(309,940)(309,940)

2016201620162016

CENTSCENTSCENTSCENTS

2015201520152015

CENTSCENTSCENTSCENTS
    AAAA

Earnings Per ShareEarnings Per ShareEarnings Per ShareEarnings Per Share                         

Basic earnings per share 19 (46.47) (120.70)

Diluted earnings per share 19 (46.47) (120.70)

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

A Prior period numbers have been restated to reflect the consolidation of the Company’s issued capital on the basis of one 
share for every existing ten shares.  



BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2016 

 

 
TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITEDTEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITED | Full Financial Report 2016                                           Page 32 

NOTENOTENOTENOTE

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Current AssetsCurrent AssetsCurrent AssetsCurrent Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14,778 14,370

Receivables 8 104,739 110,523

Program rights 6 154,025 175,357

Current tax assets 5(c) 2,787 3,624

Other - prepayments 2,895 4,147

Total Current AssetsTotal Current AssetsTotal Current AssetsTotal Current Assets 279,224279,224279,224279,224 308,021308,021308,021308,021

Non-Current AssetsNon-Current AssetsNon-Current AssetsNon-Current Assets

Program rights 6 2,735 5,315

Equity accounted investments 9 10,014 18,856

Property, plant and equipment 10 42,166 44,864

Intangible assets 7 346,518 481,697

Total Non-Current AssetsTotal Non-Current AssetsTotal Non-Current AssetsTotal Non-Current Assets 401,433401,433401,433401,433 550,732550,732550,732550,732

Total AssetsTotal AssetsTotal AssetsTotal Assets 680,657680,657680,657680,657 858,753858,753858,753858,753

Current LiabilitiesCurrent LiabilitiesCurrent LiabilitiesCurrent Liabilities

Trade creditors 11 152,338 203,786

Derivative financial instruments 13   - 350

Provisions 15 16,308 35,080

Total Current LiabilitiesTotal Current LiabilitiesTotal Current LiabilitiesTotal Current Liabilities 168,646168,646168,646168,646 239,216239,216239,216239,216

Non-Current LiabilitiesNon-Current LiabilitiesNon-Current LiabilitiesNon-Current Liabilities

Trade creditors 11 19,462 30,461

Borrowings 12 90,200 154,904

Derivative financial instruments 13 2,345 3,193

Deferred tax liabilities 5(d) 1,257 1,029

Provisions 15 15,972 18,462

Total Non-Current LiabilitiesTotal Non-Current LiabilitiesTotal Non-Current LiabilitiesTotal Non-Current Liabilities 129,236129,236129,236129,236 208,049208,049208,049208,049

Total LiabilitiesTotal LiabilitiesTotal LiabilitiesTotal Liabilities 297,882297,882297,882297,882 447,265447,265447,265447,265

Net AssetsNet AssetsNet AssetsNet Assets 382,775382,775382,775382,775 411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488

EquityEquityEquityEquity

Contributed equity 16 2,927,864 2,781,647

Reserves 17 (1,206,772) (1,188,778)

Accumulated losses (1,338,933) (1,182,127)

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company 382,159382,159382,159382,159 410,742410,742410,742410,742

Non-controlling interests 616 746

Total EquityTotal EquityTotal EquityTotal Equity 382,775382,775382,775382,775 411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance at Balance at Balance at Balance at 

1 September 20151 September 20151 September 20151 September 2015
2,781,6472,781,6472,781,6472,781,647 (1 ,188,778)(1 ,188,778)(1 ,188,778)(1 ,188,778) (1,182,127)(1,182,127)(1,182,127)(1,182,127) 410,742410,742410,742410,742 746746746746 411,488411,488411,488411,488

Profit for the year  -  - (156,806) (156,806) 2,405 (154,401)

Other comprehensive 

income
 - (19,358)  - (19,358)  - (19,358)

Total comprehensive Total comprehensive Total comprehensive Total comprehensive 

( loss) for the year( loss) for the year( loss) for the year( loss) for the year
 - - - - (19,358)(19,358)(19,358)(19,358) (156,806)(156,806)(156,806)(156,806) (176,164)(176,164)(176,164)(176,164) 2,4052,4052,4052,405 (173,759)(173,759)(173,759)(173,759)

Contributions of equity 

net of transaction costs
146,217  -  - 146,217  - 146,217

Employee share plan 

expense
17  - 1,364  - 1,364  - 1,364

Dividends paid 27  -  -  -  - (2,535) (2,535)

Balance 31 August Balance 31 August Balance 31 August Balance 31 August 

2016201620162016
2,927,8642,927,8642,927,8642,927,864 (1 ,206,772)(1 ,206,772)(1 ,206,772)(1 ,206,772) (1 ,338,933)(1 ,338,933)(1 ,338,933)(1 ,338,933) 382,159382,159382,159382,159 616616616616 382,775382,775382,775382,775

Balance at Balance at Balance at Balance at 

1 September 20141 September 20141 September 20141 September 2014
2,781,5542,781,5542,781,5542,781,554 (1 ,193,821)(1 ,193,821)(1 ,193,821)(1 ,193,821) (869,879)(869,879)(869,879)(869,879) 717,854717,854717,854717,854 1,6131 ,6131 ,6131 ,613 719,467719,467719,467719,467

Profit for the year  -  - (312,248) (312,248) 3,798 (308,450)

Other comprehensive 

income
(1,490)  - (1,490)  - (1,490)

Total comprehensive Total comprehensive Total comprehensive Total comprehensive 

( loss) for the year( loss) for the year( loss) for the year( loss) for the year
 - - - - (1 ,490)(1 ,490)(1 ,490)(1 ,490) (312,248)(312,248)(312,248)(312,248) (313,738)(313,738)(313,738)(313,738) 3,7983,7983,7983,798 (309,940)(309,940)(309,940)(309,940)

Issue of shares held by 

Employee Share Trust
93 (93)  -  -  -  -

Employee share plan 

expense
17  - 6,626  - 6,626  - 6,626

Dividends paid 27  -  -  -  - (4,665) (4,665)

Balance 31 August Balance 31 August Balance 31 August Balance 31 August 

2015201520152015
2,781,6472,781,6472,781,6472,781,647 (1 ,188,778)(1 ,188,778)(1 ,188,778)(1 ,188,778) (1,182,127)(1,182,127)(1,182,127)(1,182,127) 410,742410,742410,742410,742 746746746746 411,488411,488411,488411,488

NOTENOTENOTENOTE

CONTRI-CONTRI-CONTRI-CONTRI-

BUTED BUTED BUTED BUTED 

EQUITYEQUITYEQUITYEQUITY

$'000$'000$'000$'000

TOTALTOTALTOTALTOTAL

EQUITYEQUITYEQUITYEQUITY

$'000$'000$'000$'000

OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER 

RESERVESRESERVESRESERVESRESERVES

$'000$'000$'000$'000

ACCUMU-ACCUMU-ACCUMU-ACCUMU-

LATED LATED LATED LATED 

LOSSESLOSSESLOSSESLOSSES

$'000$'000$'000$'000

TOTALTOTALTOTALTOTAL

$'000$'000$'000$'000

NON NON NON NON 

CONTROL-CONTROL-CONTROL-CONTROL-

LING LING LING LING 

INTERESTINTERESTINTERESTINTEREST

$'000$'000$'000$'000
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A Cash at bank includes $3.8m (2015: $6.1m) which is required to be spent on certain capital items under a 
government grant and cannot be used for other purposes. 

For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash at bank includes cash management deposits at call net 
of outstanding deposits.  Any bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the 
balance sheet. 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 

NOTENOTENOTENOTE

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Net increase in cash and cash equivalentsNet increase in cash and cash equivalentsNet increase in cash and cash equivalentsNet increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand 67 73

   Cash at bank 
A 14,711 14,297

At end of year 14,778 14,370

At beginning of year 14,370 13,439

Cash held by Out-of-Home business on disposal 1,955   -

Effects of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents 421 (811)

Net cash inflows/(outflows) for the yearNet cash inflows/(outflows) for the yearNet cash inflows/(outflows) for the yearNet cash inflows/(outflows) for the year 2,7842,7842,7842,784 120120120120

Represented by:

Cash Flows from operating activ itiesCash Flows from operating activ itiesCash Flows from operating activ itiesCash Flows from operating activ ities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 760,492 714,469

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and 

services tax)
(808,827) (761,960)

Interest received 682 600

Bank interest paid (1,773) (2,338)

Income tax received/(paid)

Prior year refunds received 4,104 2,037

Current year payments (6,076) (7,820)

Net cash (outflows) operating activities 25 (51,398) (55,012)

Cash Flows from investment activ itiesCash Flows from investment activ itiesCash Flows from investment activ itiesCash Flows from investment activ ities

Proceeds from government grant   - 5,601

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (9,216) (8,310)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 16 143

Deferred consideration received   - 15,000

Dividends received 1,200 1,000

Repayments from investments   - 220

Proceeds from sale of investments 642 1,169

Proceeds for the disposal of Out-of-Home business 738   -

Payments for other investments (1,000) -

Net cash (outflows)/inflows from investment activities (7,620) 14,823

Cash Flows from financing activ itiesCash Flows from financing activ itiesCash Flows from financing activ itiesCash Flows from financing activ ities

Net proceeds from issue of shares 146,217   -

Dividends paid (2,535) (4,665)

Proceeds from borrowings 321,034 325,000

Repayment of borrowings (402,914) (280,000)

Refinancing costs   - (26)

Net cash inflows from financing activities 61,802 40,309

Net cash inflows/(outflows) for the yearNet cash inflows/(outflows) for the yearNet cash inflows/(outflows) for the yearNet cash inflows/(outflows) for the year 2,7842,7842,7842,784 120120120120

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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1111 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONSCRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONSCRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONSCRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS    

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity 
and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The consolidated entity makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Estimated Impairment of Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives and Goodwill 

The consolidated entity tests annually or when circumstances indicate impairment, whether 
indefinite lived intangibles and goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in Note 7.  The recoverable amount of the television cash-generating unit 
and the resulting impairment loss has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation.  This 
calculation requires the use of assumptions.  Refer to Note 7 for details of these assumptions and 
the potential impact of changes to the assumptions. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed 
annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in 
useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.    

Income Taxes 

The consolidated entity has recognised certain deferred tax assets relating to carried forward tax 
losses and some deferred tax assets remain unrecognised.  The estimation of these recognised and 
unrecognised deferred tax assets is the subject of significant judgement. It is based on detailed tax 
forecasts and consideration of the evidence available to support recognition. Refer to Note 5 for 
further information.  

Inventory Valuation 

Television program inventory which is available for broadcast is recognised as an asset at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value.  This assessment of valuation requires the use of assumptions and 
consideration is placed on factors such as current profitability of programs and future program 
schedule forecasts.  Any change in assumptions has the potential to impact the valuation of 
television program inventory. 
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2222    SSSSEGMENT INFORMATIONEGMENT INFORMATIONEGMENT INFORMATIONEGMENT INFORMATION    

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) that are used to make strategic decisions. Two reportable segments have 
been identified. These are Television and Out-of-Home (Roads and Maritime Services contract 
(RMS) and Eye US operations). The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segments 
based on Adjusted EBITDA.    

    

Geographical segmentsGeographical segmentsGeographical segmentsGeographical segments    

The consolidated entity operates principally within Australia. 

    
Segment information provided to the CEOSegment information provided to the CEOSegment information provided to the CEOSegment information provided to the CEO    

    

2016201620162016

TELEVISIONTELEVISIONTELEVISIONTELEVISION

$'000$'000$'000$'000

OUT-OF-HOME OUT-OF-HOME OUT-OF-HOME OUT-OF-HOME 

$'000$'000$'000$'000

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

$'000s$'000s$'000s$'000s

RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenue

Sales to external customers 674,039 15,455 689,494

Inter-segment sales - - -

Total revenueTotal revenueTotal revenueTotal revenue 674,039674,039674,039674,039 15,45515,45515,45515,455 689,494689,494689,494689,494

Other income 1,891 - 1,891

Net gain on sale of Out-of-Home business - 23,128 23,128

Total revenue and other incomeTotal revenue and other incomeTotal revenue and other incomeTotal revenue and other income 675,930675,930675,930675,930 38,58338,58338,58338,583 714,513714,513714,513714,513

Segment ResultSegment ResultSegment ResultSegment Result

Adjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDA
A 4,5084,5084,5084,508 ---- 4,5084,5084,5084,508

Depreciation (11,798)

Amortisation -

Adjusted EBITAdjusted EBITAdjusted EBITAdjusted EBIT (7,290)(7,290)(7,290)(7,290)

Finance costs (19,802)

Finance income 691

Underlying Loss before taxUnderlying Loss before taxUnderlying Loss before taxUnderlying Loss before tax (26,401)(26,401)(26,401)(26,401)

Income tax (expense) (2,742)

Underlying Loss from continuing operationsUnderlying Loss from continuing operationsUnderlying Loss from continuing operationsUnderlying Loss from continuing operations (29,143)(29,143)(29,143)(29,143)

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 2,405

Underlying Loss attributable to membersUnderlying Loss attributable to membersUnderlying Loss attributable to membersUnderlying Loss attributable to members (31 ,548)(31 ,548)(31 ,548)(31 ,548)

Significant items (details below)Significant items (details below)Significant items (details below)Significant items (details below)

   Revenue 23,128

   Expense (148,386)

Loss attributable to membersLoss attributable to membersLoss attributable to membersLoss attributable to members (156,806)(156,806)(156,806)(156,806)
A Before significant Items  

In 2016, there is one customer that derived revenue of $77.9m, which is greater than 10% of total 
revenue for the year. These revenues are attributed to the television segment.        
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In 2015, there are two customers that derived revenue of $71.5m and $66.6m, which are greater 
than 10% of total revenue for the year. These revenues are attributed to the television segment.  

        

2015201520152015

TELEVISIONTELEVISIONTELEVISIONTELEVISION

$'000$'000$'000$'000

OUT-OF-HOME OUT-OF-HOME OUT-OF-HOME OUT-OF-HOME 

$'000$'000$'000$'000

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

$'000$'000$'000$'000

RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenue

Sales to external customers 627,596 26,543 654,139

Inter-segment sales - - -

Total revenueTotal revenueTotal revenueTotal revenue 627,596627,596627,596627,596 26,54326,54326,54326,543 654,139654,139654,139654,139

Other income 1,793 - 1,793

Net gain on sale of investment 1,311 1,311

Total revenue and other incomeTotal revenue and other incomeTotal revenue and other incomeTotal revenue and other income 630,700630,700630,700630,700 26,54326,54326,54326,543 657,243657,243657,243657,243

Segment ResultSegment ResultSegment ResultSegment Result

Adjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDA
A (12,018)(12,018)(12,018)(12,018) ---- (12,018)(12,018)(12,018)(12,018)

Depreciation (14,268)

Amortisation -

Adjusted EBITAdjusted EBITAdjusted EBITAdjusted EBIT (26,286)(26,286)(26,286)(26,286)

Finance costs (16,669)

Finance income 788

Underlying Loss before taxUnderlying Loss before taxUnderlying Loss before taxUnderlying Loss before tax (42,167)(42,167)(42,167)(42,167)

Income tax (expense) (3,400)

Underlying Loss from continuing operationsUnderlying Loss from continuing operationsUnderlying Loss from continuing operationsUnderlying Loss from continuing operations (45,567)(45,567)(45,567)(45,567)

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 3,798

Underlying Loss attributable to membersUnderlying Loss attributable to membersUnderlying Loss attributable to membersUnderlying Loss attributable to members (49,365)(49,365)(49,365)(49,365)

Signif icant items (details below)Signif icant items (details below)Signif icant items (details below)Signif icant items (details below)

   Revenue 1,311

   Expense (264,194)

Loss attributable to membersLoss attributable to membersLoss attributable to membersLoss attributable to members (312,248)(312,248)(312,248)(312,248)
A Before significant Items
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Significant itemsSignificant itemsSignificant itemsSignificant items    

Items which are individually significant for 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

 
A Tax benefits have not been assigned for significant items due to the Company currently being in a tax loss 
position. 

The net gain on sale of the Out-of-Home business ($23.1m) mainly arises from the reversal of a 
$20.4m foreign currency translation reserve from equity into the income statement in line with 
accounting standards. See below for further details. 

An impairment review was performed as at August 2016 to ensure that television licences were 
being carried at their recoverable amount.  An impairment loss of $135.2m for television licences 
was recognised in the current period. Further details are provided in Note 7. 

The 2015 Provision for onerous contracts relate to the Out-of-Home business which has now been 
sold. 

Restructuring costs include $2.2m of corporate activity costs relating to the MCN transition, the 
Foxtel transaction and redundancy payments relating to restructuring of operations. 

Restructuring costs for 2015 include redundancy costs in relation to the outgoing CEO, Mr HR 
McLennan and as a result of the announcement of a sales agency agreement with MCN.  

The writedown of investment relates to the impairment of the Company’s investment in an unlisted 
entity to its recoverable amount. 

    

Sale of OutSale of OutSale of OutSale of Out----ofofofof----Home BusinessHome BusinessHome BusinessHome Business    

  2016201620162016    
$'000$'000$'000$'000    

Consideration received or receivableConsideration received or receivableConsideration received or receivableConsideration received or receivable      

Deferred consideration 1,277 

Costs of completion (2,046) 

  (769) 

Carrying amount of net liabilities sold B   3,510 

Foreign currency translation reserve 20,387 

Profit on sale before income taxProfit on sale before income taxProfit on sale before income taxProfit on sale before income tax    23232323,,,,128128128128    

      

Income tax benefit - 

Profit on sale Profit on sale Profit on sale Profit on sale afterafterafterafter    income taxincome taxincome taxincome tax  23,23,23,23,111128282828    

B Includes onerous contract provisions at the time of disposal. 

    

    

    

     

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Net gain on sale of:

OurDeal Pty Limited   - 1,311

Out-of-Home business 23,128 -

Impairment of Intangible asset (135,179) (251,157)

Provisions for onerous contracts   - (6,754)

Restructuring costs (2,230) (6,283)

Writedown of investment (10,977) -

Total significant items Total significant items Total significant items Total significant items 
A (125,258)(125,258)(125,258)(125,258) (262,883)(262,883)(262,883)(262,883)

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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Underlying Earnings Per ShareUnderlying Earnings Per ShareUnderlying Earnings Per ShareUnderlying Earnings Per Share    

Underlying Earnings per Share Underlying Earnings per Share Underlying Earnings per Share Underlying Earnings per Share 
A

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share 
B

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

C Prior period numbers have been restated to reflect the consolidation of the Company’s issued capital on the basis of one share for       

   every existing ten shares.  

A Excludes the significant items disclosed above.
B Due to the Company reporting a loss for the years ended 31 August 2016 and 2015, the impacts of potential shares are not 

   included in calculating diluted EPS because they are anti-dilutive.

2016201620162016

CENTSCENTSCENTSCENTS

2015201520152015
    CCCC

CENTSCENTSCENTSCENTS

(9.35)

(9.35)

(19.08)

(19.08)
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3333    REVENUEREVENUEREVENUEREVENUE    

Revenue is recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST).  The consolidated entity recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can 
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific 
criteria have been met for each of the consolidated entity's activities as described below.  

Revenue from core operating activities consists of advertising and media revenues and is 
recognised when the advertisement has been broadcast/displayed or the media service performed. 

Advertising and media revenues are disclosed after making allowance for commissions paid to 
advertising agencies. 

Other income includes bank interest earned and dividends received. 

    
    
4444    EXPENSESEXPENSESEXPENSESEXPENSES    

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Profit from continuing operations before income tax Profit from continuing operations before income tax Profit from continuing operations before income tax Profit from continuing operations before income tax 

includes the following specif ic items:includes the following specif ic items:includes the following specif ic items:includes the following specif ic items:

Net loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 13   -  -  -  -

Net bad and doubtful debts, including movements in provision 

for doubtful debts
292 372

Employee benefits expense 128,368 142,846

Defined contribution superannuation expense 8,757 9,175

Operating Lease Rentals

Minimum lease payments 31,372 51,137

Contingent rental expense 748 1,174

Rental expense from sub-lease 113 114

Finance costs

Interest 19,460 15,998

Unwinding of discount 342 671

19,80219,80219,80219,802 16,66916,66916,66916,669

Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment:

Plant and Equipment 9,988 12,434

Leasehold improvements 1,706 1,730

Buildings 104 104

11,79811,79811,79811,798 14,26814,26814,26814,268

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Revenue from continuing operationsRevenue from continuing operationsRevenue from continuing operationsRevenue from continuing operations

Sales revenue 689,494689,494689,494689,494 654,139654,139654,139654,139

Other incomeOther incomeOther incomeOther income

Foreign exchange income   - 227

Interest 691 561

Dividend 1,200 1,000

Gain on sale of non-current assets   - 5

1 ,8911 ,8911 ,8911 ,891 1,7931,7931,7931,793

Net Gain on sale of investment Net Gain on sale of investment Net Gain on sale of investment Net Gain on sale of investment 

Net gain on sale of OurDeal Pty Limited   - 1,311

Net gain on sale of Out-of-Home business 23,128   -

23,12823,12823,12823,128 1 ,3111 ,3111 ,3111 ,311

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2016 

 

TEN NETWORK TEN NETWORK TEN NETWORK TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITEDHOLDINGS LIMITEDHOLDINGS LIMITEDHOLDINGS LIMITED | Full Financial Report 2016                                   Page 41  

5555    INCOME TAXINCOME TAXINCOME TAXINCOME TAX                

The income tax expense for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income based on 
the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and 
associates operate and generate taxable income.  Management periodically evaluates positions taken 
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.  
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements.  However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if 
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of 
the reversal of temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reversed in the 
foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. As a consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred 
tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated financial statements. 

Management have determined that deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities associated with 
indefinite life intangibles such as television licences should be measured based on the tax consequences 
that would follow from the recovery through sale. 
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2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

(a)  Income tax expense(a)  Income tax expense(a)  Income tax expense(a)  Income tax expense

Current income tax expense/(revenue) 2,893 5,376

Deferred income tax (revenue)/expense (151) (561)

Prior year adjustments - (1,415)

2,7422,7422,7422,742 3,4003,4003,4003,400

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense 

comprises:

Decrease in deferred tax asset 1,339 2,194

(Increase) in deferred tax liabilities (1,490) (2,755)

(151)(151)(151)(151) (561)(561)(561)(561)

Deferred income tax movements included other comprehensive 

income
379 307

Prior year adjustments - 722

Total movement in deferred tax liabilitiesTotal movement in deferred tax liabilitiesTotal movement in deferred tax liabilitiesTotal movement in deferred tax liabilities 228228228228 468468468468

(b)   Reconciliation of income tax to prima facie tax (b)   Reconciliation of income tax to prima facie tax (b)   Reconciliation of income tax to prima facie tax (b)   Reconciliation of income tax to prima facie tax 

payablepayablepayablepayable

Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations before tax (151,659) (305,050)

Tax at the Australian tax rate 30% (45,498) (91,515)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in 

calculating taxable income:

Deferred tax asset not recognised on TV licence impairment 40,554 75,347

Writedown of investments 3,293 -

Entertainment 537 694

Share in associates’ (gains)/ losses (341) (220)

Net tax (gain) on sale of investments and property (7,040) (994)

Rights and Loan Funded Shares 409 1,988

Regional deferred tax assets not brought into account - 2,123

Tax losses not recognised 11,405 17,502

Other (577) (110)

Prior year adjustments - (1,415)

Income tax expense / (benefit)Income tax expense / (benefit)Income tax expense / (benefit)Income tax expense / (benefit) 2,7422,7422,7422,742 3,4003,4003,4003,400

(c)  Current tax liabilities/ (assets)(c)  Current tax liabilities/ (assets)(c)  Current tax liabilities/ (assets)(c)  Current tax liabilities/ (assets)

Provision for income tax/ (Income tax receivable) (2,787) (3,624)

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

(d)   Deferred tax liabilities (d)   Deferred tax liabilities (d)   Deferred tax liabilities (d)   Deferred tax liabilities 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Provision for doubtful debts and advertising credits (941) (718)

Carry forward tax losses (43,140) (38,793)

Program rights 59,976 56,807

Property, plant and equipment 960 1,133

Capitalised costs (1,347) (1,119)

Trade creditors and accruals (2,404) (3,014)

Provisions (10,789) (11,723)

Hedge reserve (626) (986)

Equity raising expenses (432) (558)

Deferred tax liability 1 ,2571,2571,2571,257 1,0291,0291,0291,029

Deferred tax (assets) expected to be recovered within 12 months (16,238) (11,282)

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be recovered after more than

12 months
17,495 12,311

1 ,2571,2571,2571,257 1,0291,0291,0291,029

(e)   Unrecognised deferred tax assets(e)   Unrecognised deferred tax assets(e)   Unrecognised deferred tax assets(e)   Unrecognised deferred tax assets

The potential deferred tax asset not brought to account is:

Unrecognised tax losses 58,925 47,069

Deductible temporary differences not recognised 163,343 126,504

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

The group has recorded deferred tax assets arising from tax losses to the extent that they will 
be utilised by the reversal of taxable temporary differences.   

The unrecorded tax losses of $58.9m are available for utilisation by the entity, and their 
utilisation is supported by the entity’s tax forecasts. The Directors consider it prudent not to 
record these tax losses as their utilisation is not expected in the short term. However they will 
remain available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits, subject to continuing to 
meet the statutory tax tests. 

 

6666    PROGRAM RIGHTS (CURRENT & NONPROGRAM RIGHTS (CURRENT & NONPROGRAM RIGHTS (CURRENT & NONPROGRAM RIGHTS (CURRENT & NON----CURRENT)CURRENT)CURRENT)CURRENT) 

Television program inventory which is available for broadcast is recognised as an asset at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is allocated to television as a program expense 
when inventory is utilised.  Features are expensed over their contract period.  Series and other 
programs are expensed in full upon initial airing.   

Television program inventory at balance date for which the telecast licence period has 
commenced or will commence in the succeeding year has been classified as a current asset. 

 
 

 

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Program rights – Current 154,025 175,357

Program rights – Non-current 2,735 5,315

156,760156,760156,760156,760 180,672180,672180,672180,672

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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Program rights expense 

Program rights recognised as expenses during the year ended 31 August 2016 amount to $395.2m (2015: 
$369.6m). 

 

7777    INTANGIBLE ASSETSINTANGIBLE ASSETSINTANGIBLE ASSETSINTANGIBLE ASSETS    

Television Licences 

Television licences are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  The television licences 
continue to be subject to Government legislation and regulation by the Australian Communications and 
Media Authority (“ACMA”). The Directors have no reason to believe that the licences will not be renewed 
in due course. 

No amortisation is provided against these assets as the Directors believe that the television licences do 
not have a limited useful life.  Instead, the Directors regularly assess the carrying value of licences 
through impairment testing so as to ensure that they are not carried at a value greater than their 
recoverable amount. 

Impairment of Assets 

Television licences that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired.  Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units (CGU) at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.  Intangible assets other than goodwill that 
have previously recognised an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each 
reporting date. 

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Television licences

At Cost 1,077,823 1,077,823

Accumulated impairment (731,305) (596,126)

346,518 481,697

Television licences

Opening net Carrying Value 481,697 732,854

Provision for impairment (135,179) (251,157)

Closing net Carrying Value 346,518 481,697

Total Intangible AssetsTotal Intangible AssetsTotal Intangible AssetsTotal Intangible Assets 346,518346,518346,518346,518 481,697481,697481,697481,697

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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Impairment tests for Television licencesImpairment tests for Television licencesImpairment tests for Television licencesImpairment tests for Television licences    

During the year ended 31 August 2016, an impairment loss of $135.2m (2015: $251.2m) was recorded. The 
television impairment charge was mainly the result of a reduction in revenue forecasts in the Company’s 
value-in-use model to reflect recent advertising market declines, as well as a reassessment of long term 
market growth forecasts.  

Television licences are carried at the following values: 

 

Television Licences               Television Licences               Television Licences               Television Licences                                                                                                   Television CGUTelevision CGUTelevision CGUTelevision CGU    

    2016                                                       346,518 

    2015                                                       481,697 

 

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The following 
describes each key assumption in performing these calculations: 

 

Cash flow forecasts and growth rates 

Cash flow forecasts are based on the following assumptions: 

• The five year forecast is based on the 2017 Board approved budget and management’s latest 
expectations of future performance for the remaining four years. 

• Revenue growth rates over the five year forecast vary from year to year with a cumulative average 
growth rate of 4.8% (2015: 6.7%).  The revenue growth is driven by a combination of both market 
growth and market share. 

• The terminal value is based on the Gordon's Growth Model using a 1.5% (2015: 2%) growth rate. 

 

Discount rates 

The pre tax discount rate of 13.35% and post-tax discount rate of 10.17% (2015: pre-tax 13.44% and post-
tax 10.17%) are the risk adjusted weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) for the consolidated entity. 

 

Impact of Possible Changes in Key Assumptions 

A change in any of the key assumptions including growth rates or the WACC could cause a change in 
the carrying value of the television licences.   

In the event that adverse changes in key assumptions look likely, management is able to review costs to 
mitigate the effects of the changes on the recoverable amount. 
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8888    RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)    

(a)(a)(a)(a) Trade Receivables Trade Receivables Trade Receivables Trade Receivables     

All trade receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, less 
provision for doubtful debts.   

Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 45 days from date of recognition.  They are 
presented as current assets unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months after the 
reporting date. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be 
uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.  An allowance account 
(provision for impairment of receivables) is used when there is objective evidence that the consolidated 
entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.  
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the 
trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the 
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial. 

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within 
other expenses. When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised 
becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

 

 

 

  

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Trade debtors 107,877 112,938

Provision for impairment of receivables (607) (399)

Provisions for advertising credits (2,531) (2,016)

104,739104,739104,739104,739 110,523110,523110,523110,523

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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(b)(b)(b)(b) Impaired trade receivablesImpaired trade receivablesImpaired trade receivablesImpaired trade receivables    

As at 31 August 2016 current trade receivables of the consolidated entity with a nominal value of 
$0.6m (2015: $0.4m) were impaired.  The amount of the provision was $0.6m (2015: $0.4m).  The 
individually impaired receivables are in the Television segment and relate to a number of individual 
debtors for which these amounts are not expected to be recoverable.  

(c)(c)(c)(c) Past due but not impairedPast due but not impairedPast due but not impairedPast due but not impaired    

As of 31 August 2016, trade receivables in the consolidated entity of $1.4m (2015: $0.9m) were past 
due but not impaired.  These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no 
recent history of default.  

The other classes within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due.  Based 
on the credit history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when 
due.  The consolidated entity does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables. 

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to 
approximate their fair value. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of 
receivables mentioned above and is not considered to be material.   

  

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

The ageing of these trade receivables are:

Up to 30 days overdue 1,077 718

31 to 60 days overdue 44 115

61 to 90 days overdue 115 18

Over 90 days overdue 126 90

1,3621,3621,3621,362 941941941941

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

The ageing of these receivables are:

1 to 30 days - -

31 to 60 days - -

61 to 90 days - -

Over 90 days 607 399

607607607607 399399399399

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are:

Opening balance 399 247

Provision for impairment recognised during the year 292 371

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (84) (141)

Unused amount reversed - (78)

Closing balance at 31 August 607607607607 399399399399

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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9999    EQUITY ACCOUNTED EQUITY ACCOUNTED EQUITY ACCOUNTED EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTSINVESTMENTSINVESTMENTSINVESTMENTS    

AssocAssocAssocAssociates and Joint Venturesiates and Joint Venturesiates and Joint Venturesiates and Joint Ventures    

Associates and joint ventures comprise those investments where the consolidated entity exercises 
significant influence but not control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and 
operating decisions of the entity generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of 
the voting rights but may also include shareholdings of below 20% where significant influence can be 
demonstrated. Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.   

The consolidated entity’s equity accounted share of the associates’ and joint ventures’ net profit or loss 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves from the date significant influence commences until 
the date significant influence ceases.  When the consolidated entity’s share of losses in an associate or 
joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, the consolidated entity does 
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate or joint venture.   

The Company equity accounts for its share in associates, TXA Australia Pty Limited (33.33%), MCN 
Australia Pty Limited (24.99%) and RSVP.com.au Pty Limited (15.17%): 

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Opening net carrying amount 18,856 17,644

Investment in MCN Australia Pty Limited 1,000 -

Investment in RSVP.com.au Pty Limited - 500

Dividends received - (21)

Share of net profit of associates accounted for using the equity method 1,135 733

Write-down of investment (10,977) -

Closing Balance at 31 Aug 2016Closing Balance at 31 Aug 2016Closing Balance at 31 Aug 2016Closing Balance at 31 Aug 2016 10,01410,01410,01410,014 18,85618,85618,85618,856

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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10101010    PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTPROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTPROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTPROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  Subsequent costs 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
consolidated entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. Repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period 
in which they are incurred. 

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives.  Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a regular basis 
for all assets.  The expected useful lives are as follows:  

 

         2016201620162016                                2015201520152015    

 Buildings   40 Years   40 Years 

 Plant and Equipment  2 to 10 years   2 to 10 years 

 

The cost of leasehold improvements is amortised over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever is the shorter.   

An asset's carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Freehold land

At cost 1 ,0881,0881,0881,088 1 ,0881 ,0881 ,0881 ,088

Freehold buildings

At cost 3,015 3,015

Accumulated depreciation (1,360) (1,256)

1 ,6551 ,6551 ,6551 ,655 1,7591,7591,7591,759

Leasehold improvements

At cost 23,755 23,863

Accumulated depreciation (11,642) (10,183)

12,11312,11312,11312,113 13,68013,68013,68013,680

Plant and equipment

At cost 200,136 216,394

Accumulated depreciation (172,826) (188,057)

27,31027,31027,31027,310 28,33728,33728,33728,337

Net book valueNet book valueNet book valueNet book value 42,16642,16642,16642,166 44,86444,86444,86444,864

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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ReconciliationsReconciliationsReconciliationsReconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are below:

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Freehold land

Balance at beginning and end of year 1 ,0881 ,0881 ,0881 ,088 1,0881,0881,0881,088

Freehold buildings

Balance at beginning of year 1,759 1,863

Depreciation (104) (104)

Balance at end of year 1 ,6551 ,6551 ,6551 ,655 1 ,7591 ,7591 ,7591 ,759

Leasehold improvements

Balance at beginning of year 13,680 15,362

Additions 16 50

Revaluation 123   -

Disposals   - (2)

Depreciation (1,706) (1,730)

Balance at end of year 12,1 1312,1 1312,1 1312,1 13 13,68013,68013,68013,680

Plant and equipment

Balance at beginning of year 28,337 32,678

Additions 9,200 8,234

Disposals (239) (141)

Depreciation (9,988) (12,434)

Balance at end of year 27,31027,31027,31027,310 28,33728,33728,33728,337

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

    
    
    
11111111        TRADE CREDITORSTRADE CREDITORSTRADE CREDITORSTRADE CREDITORS    (CURRENT & NON(CURRENT & NON(CURRENT & NON(CURRENT & NON----CURRENCURRENCURRENCURRENT)T)T)T) 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity 
prior to the end of the financial period and which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are 
usually paid within 30 days of recognition.  Trade and other creditors are presented as current 
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date.  They are recognised 
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Trade creditors – Current 152,338 203,786

Trade creditors - Non-current 19,462 30,461

171,800171,800171,800171,800 234,247234,247234,247234,247

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

    

The carrying amounts of the trade creditors at the end of the reporting period approximate their 
fair value.  
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2016201620162016

$$$$’’’’000000000000

2015201520152015

$$$$’’’’000000000000

Bank Loan - Drawn 
A

65,000 135,000

Bank Loan - Capitalised Interest and Commitment fees 
A              3,319            10,787 

Shareholder Guarantor Fees           23,068            11,200 

Capitalised transaction costs             (1,187)           (2,083)

90,20090,20090,20090,200 154,904154,904154,904154,904

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

    
A Amounts are drawn on a $200m Revolving Cash Advance Facility. Undrawn facilities at reporting date were 
$131.7m (2015: $54.2m) 

Borrowing costs incurred for the setup of borrowings are capitalised and subsequently amortised 
over the life of the associated loan. All other costs are recognised as expenses in the period when 
incurred. 

(a) Bank Loan(a) Bank Loan(a) Bank Loan(a) Bank Loan    

The bank loan commenced to be drawn down on 26 February 2014.  It comprises a $200m 
Revolving Cash Advance Facility (“Facility”) which is guaranteed by three major shareholders 
(“Shareholder Guarantors”).  

The key features of the bank loan are consistent with the details reported since 31 August 2014.  
These are set out below: 

• 4 year $200m Revolving Cash Advance Facility which expires in December 2017 and is fully 
secured against the assets of the consolidated entity. 

• a ‘covenant-lite’ facility, with no financial covenants. 

• the Facility is guaranteed by the Shareholder Guarantors. 

• the Shareholder Guarantors are entitled to receive a fee at the end of the Guarantee Period 
(with the option of the fee being convertible into shares at their election at that time).   

• the margin for the Facility, inclusive of the Shareholder Guarantors’ fee, was fixed until 31 
August 2015.  The margin then reverted to a variable fee based on the debt to EBITDA ratio 
of the Company which will remain in place until the maturity of the Facility.     

• the funds drawn on this facility have been be used for general working capital purposes. 

• interest and commitment fees payable on drawn debt will be capitalised and paid at 
maturity of the 4 year facility. 

The $200m Revolving Cash Advance Facility expires on 23 December 2017. The Company has 
commenced discussions with a number of parties in order to assess and consider the refinancing 
options available. 

        

11112222    BORROWINGS (NONBORROWINGS (NONBORROWINGS (NONBORROWINGS (NON----CURRENT)CURRENT)CURRENT)CURRENT)    

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. 
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11113333                            DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS     

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date.  
The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.  The 
consolidated entity has designated its derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast 
transactions (cash flow hedges).    

The consolidated entity documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions.  The consolidated entity also documents its assessment, 
both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in 
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income.  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Interest rate swap contracts 

The bank loans of the consolidated entity bear a weighted average variable interest rate of 
approximately 4.3% (2015: 4.7%). It is policy to protect part of these loans from exposure to 
increasing interest rates.  Accordingly, the consolidated entity has entered into interest rate swap 
contracts under which it is obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to pay interest at fixed 
rates. 

Swaps currently in place cover approximately 51.2% (2015: 37.7%) of loan principal outstanding.  
The fixed interest rates range between 4.61% and 6.93% (2015: 4.61% and 6.93%) and the variable 
rates are at 90-day BBSW, which at balance date was 1.74% (2015: 2.15%) 

At 31 August 2016, the notional principal amounts and period of expiry of the interest rate swap 
contracts are shown below. The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable and payable 
each 90 days. 

2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Less than 1 year - 20,000

1 – 2 years 20,000 -

2 – 3 years 15,000 20,000

3 – 4 years - 15,000

35,00035,00035,00035,000 55,00055,00055,00055,000

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

Level 2 InstrumentsLevel 2 InstrumentsLevel 2 InstrumentsLevel 2 Instruments    

All the above instruments are considered to be level 2 financial instruments. 

Level 2 financial instruments are not traded in an active market. The fair value of these interest rate 
swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 

The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instruments at fair value is deferred in equity in the 
cashflow hedge reserve, to the extent that the hedge is effective, and re-classified into profit and 
loss when the hedged interest expense is recognised.  The ineffective portion, if any, is recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income immediately.  In the year ended 31 August 2016 a gain 
of $134k (2015: $399k gain) was transferred to the statement of comprehensive income which was 
recognised from cash flow hedges of floating rate debt.  The amount released from the cashflow 
hedge reserve during the period was $2.0m (2015: $2.3m). 

Risk exposuresRisk exposuresRisk exposuresRisk exposures    and fair value measurementsand fair value measurementsand fair value measurementsand fair value measurements    

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of 
each class of derivative financial assets mentioned above. 
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11114444    FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENTFINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENTFINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENTFINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT    

The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
currency risk and fair value, and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of 
the consolidated entity.   

The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 
exposed.  These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate and foreign 
exchange risks and aging analysis for credit risk. 

The Risk Management Policy and Framework is carried out by management under policies which 
include Treasury Policy approved by the Audit and Risk Committee.  The Risk Management and 
Treasury Policies cover specific areas, such as mitigating foreign exchange, interest rate, credit and 
liquidity risks and the use of derivative financial instruments. 

 
(a)(a)(a)(a) Market RiskMarket RiskMarket RiskMarket Risk    

Foreign Exchange Risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. 

The consolidated entity operates internationally and has some insignificant exposure to foreign 
exchange risk arising from agreements occasionally being denominated in US dollars. In the 
Television segment, the vast majority of international program agreements are denominated in 
Australian dollars.  

The consolidated entity’s risk management policy (set out in the consolidated entity's Treasury 
Policy) is to hedge identified transactional risk on foreign exchange capital expenditure spend 
within a $10m p.a. Earnings at Risk tolerance level.  At reporting date, the consolidated entity did 
not have any material exposure to foreign currency risk. 

Consolidated entity sensitivity 

Based on the financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 August 2016 and 31 August 2015, 
there would have been no material impact on the entity’s post-tax profit for the year or equity 
balances had the Australian dollar weakened / strengthened against any foreign currencies.   

The entity no longer has any foreign subsidiaries.  

Interest Rate Risk 

The consolidated entity’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings which are all 
issued at variable rates and therefore expose the consolidated entity to cash flow interest rate risk.   
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The consolidated entity manages its cash flow interest rate risk by interest rate swaps.  These have 
the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates.  Generally, the 
consolidated entity raises long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates 
that are lower than those available if the consolidated entity borrowed at fixed rates directly.  Under 
the interest rate swaps, the consolidated entity agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified 
intervals (mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating rate interest 
amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts. 

The Treasury Policy has a framework for managing the core debt portfolio and is based on the 
spread of the interest rate resets across the yield curve, as measured by the proportion of the total 
face value of the debt which falls into specified repricing buckets on a rolling basis. The policy 
allows for latitude in managing interest rate risk with minimum and maximum repricing limits for 
each time band based on management’s assessment of future interest rate movements. 

A Treasury Report is prepared on a monthly basis for senior management and presented to the                               
Treasury Steering Group and the Audit and Risk committee on a quarterly basis.     

As at the reporting date, the consolidated entity had the following variable rate borrowings and 
interest rate swap contracts outstanding: 

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

Balance

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

Balance

% $'000 % $'000

Borrowings – Bank Loans  4.3% 68,319 4.7% 145,787

Interest rate swaps 
A 5.8% (35,000) 5.7% (55,000)

33,31933,31933,31933,319 90,78790,78790,78790,787
A Notional principal amounts

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

 

Consolidated entity sensitivity 

At 31 August 2016, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year end rates 
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $0.15m higher 
/ $0.15m lower (2015: -/+ 100 bps: $0.56m higher / $0.54m lower).  The profit impact for 2016 and 
2015 is mainly the result of lower / higher interest rate expenses from borrowings net of cash.   

Other components of equity would have been $0.41m lower / $0.41m higher (2015: $0.67m lower 
/ $0.67m) mainly as a result of an increase / decrease in the fair value of the cash flow hedges of 
borrowings.  

(b)(b)(b)(b) Credit RiskCredit RiskCredit RiskCredit Risk    

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or contract, leading to a financial loss.  The consolidated entity is exposed to credit risk from its 
operating activities (primarily from customer receivables) and from its financing activities, 
including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments.   

Credit risk related to receivables 

Customer credit risk is managed subject to a policy and controls related to customer credit risk 
management.  

Credit is extended to customers following a credit rating assessment. A written policy exists 
outlining strict credit assessment criteria and the credit quality will determine the credit limit. 
Outstanding customer receivables are monitored regularly and any credit concerns are highlighted 
to senior management.  Monthly credit reports are monitored by both senior management and the 
most current report is also tabled at the Audit and Risk Committee meetings.    

As at 31 August 2016, the consolidated entity had 6 customers totalling $54m (2015: 6 customers 
- $54m) that owed the consolidated entity more than $5 million each which accounted for 51.3% 
(2015: 48.6%) of all receivables owing.  

As at 31 August 2016, approximately 55% (2015: 65%) of the Company’s trade receivables are due 
from a small number of large national or multinational advertising agencies, rated centrally by an 
external industry body. The remaining trade receivables are due from a large number of small to 
medium size clients.  The Company has historically experienced very low rates of bad debts.   
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Credit risk related to cash and derivative financial instruments  

Credit risk from cash balances and derivative financial instruments with financial institutions are 
managed by the Treasury Steering Group in accordance with the Board approved Treasury Policy.  

Counterparty credit ratings and limits are set out in the Treasury Policy with the aim to minimise 
the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty 
failure. 

The consolidated entity only transacts with entities that are rated above investment grade.   

As at 31 August 2016, 100% (2015: 77%) of cash balances and 100% (2015: 100%) of derivative 
financial instruments (based on notional value) are with financial institutions which are rated AA-.   

    

((((cccc))))    Liquidity RiskLiquidity RiskLiquidity RiskLiquidity Risk    

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  The consolidated entity manages 
liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, 
the consolidated entity aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines 
available. 

Maturities of financial liabilities 

The tables below analyse the consolidated entity's financial liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date 
to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cashflows.  For interest rate swaps, the cash flows have been estimated using 
forward interest rates applicable at the reporting date. 
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2016201620162016

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Non-derivatives

Payables 152,338 17,284 2,178 - 171,800 171,800

Borrowings - - - - - -

Variable and fixed rate
A

- 111,078 - - 111,078 90,200

Total non-derivativesTotal non-derivativesTotal non-derivativesTotal non-derivatives 152,338152,338152,338152,338 128,362128,362128,362128,362 2,1782,1782,1782,178  - - - - 282,878282,878282,878282,878 262,000262,000262,000262,000

Derivatives

Interest rate swaps 

(net-settled) 1,483 995 116 - 2,594 2,345

Total derivativesTotal derivativesTotal derivativesTotal derivatives 1 ,4831 ,4831 ,4831 ,483 995995995995 116116116116  - - - - 2,5942,5942,5942,594 2,3452,3452,3452,345

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying 

amount amount amount amount 

liabilitiesliabilitiesliabilitiesliabilities

1 year or 1 year or 1 year or 1 year or 

lesslesslessless

BetweenBetweenBetweenBetween

1 and 2 1 and 2 1 and 2 1 and 2 

yearsyearsyearsyears

BetweenBetweenBetweenBetween

2 and 5 2 and 5 2 and 5 2 and 5 

yearsyearsyearsyears

Over 5 Over 5 Over 5 Over 5 

yearsyearsyearsyears

Total Total Total Total 

contractual contractual contractual contractual 

cash f lowscash f lowscash f lowscash f lows

 

 

2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Non-derivatives

Payables 203,786 26,696 3,765 - 234,247 234,247

Borrowings - - - - - -

Variable and fixed rate
A

- - 213,565 - 213,565 154,904

Total non-derivativesTotal non-derivativesTotal non-derivativesTotal non-derivatives 203,786203,786203,786203,786 26,69626,69626,69626,696 217,330217,330217,330217,330  - - - - 447,812447,812447,812447,812 389,151389,151389,151389,151

Derivatives

Interest rate swaps 

(net-settled) 1,698 753 230 - 2,681 3,543

Total derivativesTotal derivativesTotal derivativesTotal derivatives 1 ,6981 ,6981 ,6981 ,698 753753753753 230230230230 ---- 2,6812,6812,6812,681 3,5433,5433,5433,543

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

1 year or 1 year or 1 year or 1 year or 

lesslesslessless

BetweenBetweenBetweenBetween

1 and 2 1 and 2 1 and 2 1 and 2 

yearsyearsyearsyears

BetweenBetweenBetweenBetween

2 and 5 2 and 5 2 and 5 2 and 5 

yearsyearsyearsyears

Over 5 Over 5 Over 5 Over 5 

yearsyearsyearsyears

Total Total Total Total 

contractual contractual contractual contractual 

cash flowscash flowscash flowscash flows

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying 

amount amount amount amount 

liabilitiesliabilitiesliabilitiesliabilities

 
A Under the Company’s $200m Revolving Cash Advance Facility agreement, interest will capitalise and be added to the 
principal amount of that Loan.  Capitalised interest is repayable to the extent that such capitalisation causes drawn 
debt to exceed the available facilities, or on the date of maturity of the agreement.  Shareholder guarantee fees are 
also capitalised at a contracted rate based on the debt to EBITDA ratio for the Company. In the table above, capitalised 
interest and guarantor fees are shown to be repaid at maturity of the loan agreement (23 December 2017). 
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11115555    PROVISIONS (CURRENT & NONPROVISIONS (CURRENT & NONPROVISIONS (CURRENT & NONPROVISIONS (CURRENT & NON----CURRENT)CURRENT)CURRENT)CURRENT) 

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the 
amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 

Onerous contracts 

An onerous contract provision is recognised when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 
under a contract exceed the forecast economic benefits associated with the contract.  The 
unavoidable costs reflect the lower of the cost of fulfilling the contract and any compensation or 
penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. The provision is discounted to present value and the 
unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost. 

Make good 

A make good provision is recognised for the costs of restoration or removal in relation to property, 
plant and equipment and site leases where there is a legal or constructive obligation.  The provision 
is initially recorded when a reliable estimate can be determined and discounted to present value.  
The unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost. 

Unearned Income 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable 

assurance that the grant will be received and the group will comply with all attached conditions. 

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss over the 

period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in 
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
expected lives of the related assets. 

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

CURRENTCURRENTCURRENTCURRENT

Employee entitlements 13,783 13,009

Restructuring 336 3,347

Onerous contracts - 16,756

Unearned Income 1,526 1,458

Other 663 510

16,30816,30816,30816,308 35,08035,08035,08035,080

NON-CURRENTNON-CURRENTNON-CURRENTNON-CURRENT

Employee entitlements 2,307 2,469

Make good 3,733 4,268

Onerous contracts - 1,230

Unearned Income 9,932 10,495

15,97215,97215,97215,972 18,46218,46218,46218,462

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee entitlements 
are set out below: 

CurrentCurrentCurrentCurrent

2016201620162016

Unearned Unearned Unearned Unearned 

Income Income Income Income 
AAAA

Onerous Onerous Onerous Onerous 

Contracts Contracts Contracts Contracts 
BBBB

Restruct-Restruct-Restruct-Restruct-

uring uring uring uring 
CCCC OtherOtherOtherOther TotalTotalTotalTotal

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,458 16,756 3,347 510 22,071

Additional provisions recognised - - 575 612 1,187

Transfer from Non-Current Provision 563 1,230 - - 1,793

Utilisation of provision (495) (6,333) - - (6,828)

Reduction from sale of Out-of-Home 

business - (11,364) - - (11,364)

Unwinding of discount - 93 - - 93

Payments - - (3,586) (459) (4,045)

Foreign exchange - (382) - - (382)

Carrying amount at end of year 1 ,5261 ,5261 ,5261 ,526  - - - - 336336336336 663663663663 2,5252,5252,5252,525

CONSOLIDATED $'000sCONSOLIDATED $'000sCONSOLIDATED $'000sCONSOLIDATED $'000s

 

Non-CurrentNon-CurrentNon-CurrentNon-Current

2016201620162016

Unearned Unearned Unearned Unearned 

Income Income Income Income 
AAAA

Onerous Onerous Onerous Onerous 

Contracts Contracts Contracts Contracts 
BBBB

Make Make Make Make 

GoodGoodGoodGood
OtherOtherOtherOther TotalTotalTotalTotal

Carrying amount at beginning of year 10,495 1,230 4,268 - 15,993

Additional provisions recognised - - 790 - 790

Transfer to Current Provision (563) (1,230) - - (1,793)

Unwinding of discount - - 249 - 249

Reduction from sale of Out-of-Home 

business - - (1,574) - (1,574)

Carrying amount at end of year 9,9329,9329,9329,932  - - - - 3,7333,7333,7333,733  - - - - 13,66513,66513,66513,665

CONSOLIDATED $'000sCONSOLIDATED $'000sCONSOLIDATED $'000sCONSOLIDATED $'000s

 
A Unearned Income relates to funding receiving from the government for capital expenditure on equipment as a result of 
a change in the television spectrum.    

B Roads and Maritime Services (‘RMS’) contract finished March 2016; Out-of-Home business was sold in December 2015; 
Television sport onerous contracts have been fully utilised. 

C Additional provisions recognised include staff redundancy costs relating to restructures. 

 

 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2016 

 

TEN NETWORK TEN NETWORK TEN NETWORK TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITEDHOLDINGS LIMITEDHOLDINGS LIMITEDHOLDINGS LIMITED | Full Financial Report 2016                                   Page 59  

    11116666    CONTRIBUTED EQUITYCONTRIBUTED EQUITYCONTRIBUTED EQUITYCONTRIBUTED EQUITY    

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are shown in equity (net of tax) as an offset to the proceeds. 

On 26 October 2015, the Company launched a fully underwritten 7 for 37 pro‐rata renounceable share 

entitlement offer to existing shareholders of up to $77m at an offer price of $0.15 per New Share. This 

entitlement offer was conducted in conjunction with an issue of shares to Foxtel for gross proceeds of 

$77m which resulted in Foxtel becoming a shareholder of 13.84%. The institutional component was 

completed on 28 October 2015 and the Retail component completed 18 November 2015. The issue of 

shares to Foxtel was completed on 16 December 2015. 

The gross proceeds of $154.0m were offset by ancillary costs to the raising of $7.8m and the net of 
these amounts has been recognised in contributed equity.  All proceeds, less costs, have been used to 
repay debt. 

NoteNoteNoteNote

2016201620162016

$$$$’’’’000000000000

2015201520152015

$$$$’’’’000000000000

(a) Share capital

361,361,471 ordinary shares fully paid (b) 2,927,864 2,781,647

 (2015: 258,697,085)
A

2,927,8642,927,8642,927,8642,927,864 2,781 ,6472,781 ,6472,781 ,6472,781 ,647

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 
A 2015 shares have been restated for the consolidation of the Company’s issued capital on the basis of one 
share for every existing ten shares. 
 

 

(b)                The movements in ordinary share capital during the year is detailed below: 

DATEDATEDATEDATE DETAILSDETAILSDETAILSDETAILS

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF NUMBER OF NUMBER OF 

SHARESSHARESSHARESSHARES

ISSUE ISSUE ISSUE ISSUE 

PRICEPRICEPRICEPRICE $’000$’000$’000$’000

31.08.15 Balance 31 August 2015 - Reported 2,712,965,332 2,781,647

20.11.15 Equity Raising 1,026,605,680 $0.15 146,217

20.11.15 Loan Funded Shares - modification 
B

(31,756,734)  -

15.12.15 Share Consolidation Reduction (3,337,029,026)  -

31.08.1631.08.1631.08.1631.08.16 Balance 31 August 2016Balance 31 August 2016Balance 31 August 2016Balance 31 August 2016 370,785,252370,785,252370,785,252370,785,252 C 2,927,8642,927,8642,927,8642,927,864

31.08.14 Balance 31 August 2014 2,630,984,596 2,781,647

Ten Executive Incentive Plan (note 23) 81,980,736
D

$0.26 -

31.08.1531.08.1531.08.1531.08.15 Balance 31 August 2015Balance 31 August 2015Balance 31 August 2015Balance 31 August 2015 2,712,965,3322,712,965,3322,712,965,3322,712,965,332 2,781 ,6472,781 ,6472,781 ,6472,781 ,647

B  In November 2015, participants in the Company’s Long Term Incentive Scheme were given the option to 
exchange their loan funded shares for a fair value equivalent of performance rights under the amended and 
AGM approved 2016 Ten Executive Incentive Plan. 

C Includes Loan Funded Shares (LFS) issued under the Ten Executive Incentive Plan during 2014 and 2015. This 
includes 2,415,231 of quoted LFS and 7,008,549 of unquoted LFS.  Subsequent to year end, 1,619,856 LFS were 
forfeited and cancelled as a result of 2014 LFS grant performance hurdles not being met and the resignation of 
employees. 

D On 3 September 2014, 81,980,736 shares were issued at an exercise price of $0.2568 per share. These relate 
to the 2015 entitlement of Loan Funded Shares under the Ten Executive Incentive Plan. The shares were not 
issued as quoted shares. 

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. 

In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all creditors and are 
fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation. 
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(c)    Capital risk management 

The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue 
as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce 
debt. 

The consolidated entity does not have a target debt/equity ratio, but has a policy of maintaining a 
flexible financing structure so as to be able to take advantage of any new investment opportunities or 
initiatives that may arise.   

There were no breaches of covenants in relation to debt facilities during the reporting period and to 
the date of this report. 

The debt maturity profile of all debt is contained in Note 14 (c). 
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11117777    RESERVESRESERVESRESERVESRESERVES    

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Foreign currency translation   - 20,242

Hedging reserve (1,559) (2,443)

Share-based payment reserve 10,592 9,228

Equity Reserve 1,840 1,840

Conversion reserve (1,217,645) (1,217,645)

(1,206,772)(1,206,772)(1,206,772)(1,206,772) (1,188,778)(1,188,778)(1,188,778)(1,188,778)

Movements during the yearMovements during the yearMovements during the yearMovements during the year

Foreign currency translation

      Balance at beginning of year 20,242 22,448

      Net translation adjustment (20,242) (2,206)

      Balance at end of year   - 20,242

Hedging reserve

      Balance at beginning of year (2,443) (3,159)

      Revaluation 1,263 1,023

      Deferred tax (379) (307)

      Balance at end of year (1,559) (2,443)

Share-based payment reserve

      Balance at beginning of year 9,228 2,695

      Issue of shares to employees   - (93)

      Employee share plan expense 1,364 6,626

      Balance at end of year 10,592 9,228

Equity Reserve - transaction with non-controlling interest

      Balance at beginning and end of year 1,840 1,840

Conversion reserve

      Balance at beginning and end of year (1,217,645) (1,217,645)

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

Nature and purpose of reservesNature and purpose of reservesNature and purpose of reservesNature and purpose of reserves    

Foreign currency translation  

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign controlled entities are taken to the foreign 
currency translation reserve.  The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net 
investment is disposed of. 

Hedging reserve 

The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow 
hedge that are recognised directly in equity, as described in accounting policy Note 13.  Amounts 
are recognised in profit and loss when the associated hedge transaction affects profit and loss. 

Share-based payment reserve 

The share-based payment reserve recognises the fair value of shares vesting to employees and 
the expense pattern of shares which have yet to vest, as described in Note 23. 

Equity Reserve 

This represents the fair value consideration received from CBS for their 33.33% ownership in the 
ElevenCo Pty Limited entity. 
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Conversion reserve 

At August 2007, the Canwest group of companies exchanged convertible debentures and shares 
previously issued by The Ten Group Pty Limited into new shares in the Company.  

The value of the shares exchanged and the resulting increase in the Company’s investment in The 
Ten Group Pty Limited were both recorded at the prevailing market value ($2.62 per share).  On 
elimination of the investment in The Ten Group Pty Limited, the $1.3b premium of market value 
($2.62) over cost value ($0.10) of the shares in The Ten Group Pty Limited has been reflected as 
a debit in a conversion reserve.  To offset this debit, there is a further $0.1b credit to remove the 
Canwest minority interest in the balance sheet at the time of conversion. 

      

11118888    CONTROLLED ENTITIES CONTROLLED ENTITIES CONTROLLED ENTITIES CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND RELATED PARTIESAND RELATED PARTIESAND RELATED PARTIESAND RELATED PARTIES    

The consolidated entity’s principal subsidiaries at 31 August 2016 are set out below. Unless 
otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly 
by the consolidated entity, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights 
held by the group. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of 
business, which is Australia unless otherwise noted below.    

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

%%%% %%%%

Parent entityParent entityParent entityParent entity

Ten Network Holdings Limited 
(i)

Controlled entitiesControlled entitiesControlled entitiesControlled entities

The Ten Group Pty Limited 
(i) 100 100

Network Ten Pty Limited 
(i) 100 100

Network Ten (Adelaide) Pty Limited 
(i) 100 100

ElevenCo Pty Limited (33.33% held by NCI) 66.67 66.67

Network Ten (Perth) Pty Limited 
(i) 100 100

Network Ten (Melbourne) Pty Limited 
(i) 100 100

Network Ten (Brisbane) Pty Limited 
(i) 100 100

Network Ten (Sydney) Pty Limited 
(i) 100 100

Eye Corp (USA) Inc 
(ii)

(incorporated in the USA on 3 January 2006)
- 100

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY INTERESTCONSOLIDATED ENTITY INTERESTCONSOLIDATED ENTITY INTERESTCONSOLIDATED ENTITY INTEREST

ORDINARY SHAREORDINARY SHAREORDINARY SHAREORDINARY SHARE

 

(i):  These subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare a financial report and directors’ 
report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (‘ASIC’) pursuant to the Ten Network Holdings Limited Deed of Cross Guarantee. For more 
information refer to Note 26. 

(ii)  Eye Corp (USA) Inc was sold on 22 December 2015. 
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A Due to the Company reporting a loss for the years ended 31 August 2016 and 2015, the impacts of potential 
shares are not included in calculating diluted EPS because they are anti-dilutive. 

B 2015 shares have been restated for the consolidation of the Company’s issued capital on the basis of one 
share for every existing ten shares. 

  

  

19191919    EARNINGS PER SHAREEARNINGS PER SHAREEARNINGS PER SHAREEARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic Earnings per Share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing  the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, excluding 
treasury shares. 

 Diluted Earnings per Share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account: 

� The after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares; and 

� The weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 
assuming the conversion of dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

CentsCentsCentsCents CentsCentsCentsCents

Basic earnings per share (46.47) (120.70)

Diluted earnings per share 
A (46.47) (120.70)

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

NUMBERNUMBERNUMBERNUMBER NUMBERNUMBERNUMBERNUMBER B

Weighted Average Number of Shares Used as a DenominatorWeighted Average Number of Shares Used as a DenominatorWeighted Average Number of Shares Used as a DenominatorWeighted Average Number of Shares Used as a Denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

year used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 337,457,671 258,697,057

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the

year used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 
A

337,457,671 258,697,057

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000 $'000$'000$'000$'000

(Loss) from continuing operations (154,401) (308,450)

Profit from continuing operations attributable to non-controlling

interest
2,405 3,798

(Loss) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the consolidated

entity used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share
(156,806) (312,248)

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

Reconciliations of Earnings Used in Calculating Earnings Per ShareReconciliations of Earnings Used in Calculating Earnings Per ShareReconciliations of Earnings Used in Calculating Earnings Per ShareReconciliations of Earnings Used in Calculating Earnings Per Share
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22220000    KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND ASSOCIATED RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURESKEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND ASSOCIATED RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURESKEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND ASSOCIATED RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURESKEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND ASSOCIATED RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES    

 

    Key Management PersonnelKey Management PersonnelKey Management PersonnelKey Management Personnel    compensationcompensationcompensationcompensation    

2016201620162016

$$$$

2015201520152015

$$$$

Short-term benefits 4,168,902 4,490,161

Termination benefits   - 2,414,904

Post-employment benefits 123,865 124,279

Other long-term benefits 129,720 66,228

Share-based expenses  968,150 4,614,790

5,390,6375,390,6375,390,6375,390,637 11 ,710,36211 ,710,36211 ,710,36211 ,710,362

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 12 to 25. 

Loans to DirLoans to DirLoans to DirLoans to Directors and Other ectors and Other ectors and Other ectors and Other Key Management PersonnelKey Management PersonnelKey Management PersonnelKey Management Personnel    

No loans were made during the financial year or previous financial year, to Directors of the 
Company or to other Key Management Personnel of the consolidated entity, including their 
personally related entities. 

TraTraTraTransactions withnsactions withnsactions withnsactions with    Directors and Other Key Management PersonnelDirectors and Other Key Management PersonnelDirectors and Other Key Management PersonnelDirectors and Other Key Management Personnel    

During the year ended 31 August 2016, Mr DD Hawkins provided arms-length consulting services 
to the Company, to the value of $49,551 (2015: $9,500).  There were no other such transactions 
with Directors or other Key Management Personnel.      

Transactions with Transactions with Transactions with Transactions with Other Related PartiesOther Related PartiesOther Related PartiesOther Related Parties    

During the financial year, the companies in the group entered into agreements on normal 
commercial terms and conditions with equity accounted associates and other related parties 
(including Director-controlled entities). The arms-length agreements include transactions for the 
sale of television services together with purchases relating to operating and financing services. 
 
The aggregate of transactions with related parties during their period of service is set out in the 
table below by income statement category: 

2016201620162016

$$$$

2015201520152015

$$$$

Sales and Purchases of goods and servicesSales and Purchases of goods and servicesSales and Purchases of goods and servicesSales and Purchases of goods and services

Sales Revenue to associates and other related parties 16,573,960 11,664,660

Television costs from associates and other related parties 28,223,282 622,096

Finance costsFinance costsFinance costsFinance costs

Guarantor fee from other related parties 3,149,105   -

Outstanding BalancesOutstanding BalancesOutstanding BalancesOutstanding Balances

Outstanding receivable balances from other related parties 3,511,084 1,632,419

Outstanding payable balances to associates and other related

parties   -   -

Capitalised guarantor fees to other related parties 15,378,297   -

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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22221111    AUDITORS’ REMUNERATIONAUDITORS’ REMUNERATIONAUDITORS’ REMUNERATIONAUDITORS’ REMUNERATION    

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the 
consolidated group, its related practices and non-related audit firms: 

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

$$$$ $$$$

(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(a)  PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia

Audit and other assurance services

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the 

Corporations Act 2001
528,900 439,500

Other audit related services 24,600 25,290

Taxation Services

Tax compliance services 94,791 206,970

Other services

Advisory services 212,904 110,453

Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 861,195861,195861,195861,195 782,213

(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia(b)  Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia

Tax Compliance Services 26,284 24,812

Total remuneration of related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 26,284 24,812

Total auditors’ remunerationTotal auditors’ remunerationTotal auditors’ remunerationTotal auditors’ remuneration 887,479887,479887,479887,479 807,025

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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22222222            COMMITMENTSCOMMITMENTSCOMMITMENTSCOMMITMENTS    

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000 $'000$'000$'000$'000

(a)  Capital expenditure commitments(a)  Capital expenditure commitments(a)  Capital expenditure commitments(a)  Capital expenditure commitments

Amounts contracted but not provided for:

Within one year 7,894 6,774

Later than one year and not later than five years   -   -

7,8947,8947,8947,894 6,7746,7746,7746,774

(b) Program expenditure commitments(b) Program expenditure commitments(b) Program expenditure commitments(b) Program expenditure commitments

Amounts contracted but not provided for:

Within one year 304,597 239,637

Later than one year and not later than five years 690,040 886,118

Later than five years 213,814 322,333

1,208,4511,208,4511,208,4511,208,451 1,448,0881,448,0881,448,0881,448,088

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

 (c)  Non(c)  Non(c)  Non(c)  Non----cancellable operating lease commitmentscancellable operating lease commitmentscancellable operating lease commitmentscancellable operating lease commitments 

The consolidated entity leases various offices and plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating 
leases expiring within one to fifteen years.  The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal 
rights.  On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. 

2016201620162016 2015201520152015

$'000$'000$'000$'000 $'000$'000$'000$'000

Minimum lease payments contracted but not provided for:

No later than one year 21,045 18,607

Later than one year and not later than five years 45,281 59,332

Later than five years 16,952 23,410

83,27883,27883,27883,278 101,349101,349101,349101,349

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

Not included in the above commitments are contingent rental payments which may arise in the event that 
revenue from certain leased assets exceed a pre-determined threshold.  The contingent rent payable varies 
from asset to asset. 

. 
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22223333    SHARESHARESHARESHARE----BASED PAYMENTSBASED PAYMENTSBASED PAYMENTSBASED PAYMENTS    

Ten Executive Incentive Plan 2016  

The fair value of Loan Funded Shares and performance rights granted are recognised as an employee 
benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The fair value of the shares and rights granted 
includes any market performance conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions but excludes the 
impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions.  

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of shares or rights that are 
expected to vest.  The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which 
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its 
estimates of the number of shares or rights that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting 
conditions.  It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity. 

In light of feedback from shareholders and after obtaining professional advice which included investigating 
other long term incentive plan options, the Company decided to amend the Ten Executive Incentive Plan 
(TEIP) to provide for the grant of Performance Rights (Rights) for 2016 and future long term incentive 
allocations, in lieu of the issue of Loan Funded Shares (LFS). The amended TEIP was approved by 
shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting. 

Senior executives will receive the long term component of their maximum contracted total incentive in the 
form of Rights under the TEIP, although the Remuneration Committee will have the ultimate discretion to 
determine the individual allocations under the TEIP. Each Right will entitle the participant to receive, 
following satisfaction of any vesting conditions and/or performance hurdles, one ordinary share or, at the 
discretion of the Remuneration Committee, a right to receive a cash payment in lieu of an ordinary share. If 
applicable vesting conditions and/or performance hurdles are not met, the Rights will lapse. 

Participants will receive a number of Rights determined by dividing the dollar value of their award by the 
Company’s underlying share price, rounded to the nearest whole number.  The underlying share price will 
be based on the volume weighted average price of shares at the close of trading over a 20 day trading 
period up to and including the last day of the Company’s financial year ($2.01 for the 2016 allocation). This 
may be different to the fair value at the date of grant which is used as the basis for accounting ($1.00 for 
the Rights granted 23 Feb 2016). 

The relevant Rights will be subject to the satisfaction of revenue share and earnings per share (EPS) 
performance hurdles at the end of a 3 year performance period. No re-testing of the performance hurdles 
will apply.  

Set out below is a summary of Performance Rights granted under the Ten Executive Incentive Plan during 
the year and the amount outstanding as at reporting date.  

Grant Date Vesting Date 

Fair Value 
at Grant 

Date 

Number of 
Rights 

Granted 

Number 
exchanged 
from Loan 

Funded 
Shares 

Number 
Forfeited A 

Number of 
Rights at 

the end of 
the period 

       
23 Feb 2016 31 Aug 2018 $1.00 1,547,476 59,611 (132,091) 1,474,996 

A Rights were forfeited by resigned employees as determined at time of resignation. 

 

Ten Executive Incentive Plan 2014 & 2015 (suspended) 

This plan was established during 2014 following shareholder approval in December 2013. It applied to 2014 
and 2015 long term incentive allocations, after which the plan was suspended and replaced with an amended 
TEIP (discussed above).  Under the suspended Ten Executive Incentive Plan (suspended TEIP), eligible 
senior executives were permitted to borrow from the Company or a subsidiary, an agreed amount and use 
that amount to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company to be newly issued (Loan Funded Shares or 
LFS). Amounts lent under the suspended TEIP are in the form of limited recourse loans so that, should the 
market value of the Company’s shares, at the time the LFS are withdrawn from the plan, fall below the 
market value at the time of issue of the LFS, or fail to satisfy the performance hurdles in the plan, participants 
will not have to meet any shortfall. 
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The LFS were issued at market value on or near the commencement of the Company’s financial year. The 
number of LFS to which a senior executive was entitled was calculated by dividing the long term component 
of the executive’s incentive by the fair value of a LFS as determined by the Remuneration Committee after 
taking professional advice.   

The performance period for the 2014 LFS grant ended on 31 August 2016. The performance hurdles were 
not met and as such associated 2014 LFS have been forfeited and cancelled in accordance with the TEIP 
rules, the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. 

The release of the LFS issued under the suspended TEIP is conditional on satisfaction of revenue share and 
EPS performance hurdles at the end of a 3 year performance period. Following the approval of the updated 
long term incentive plan (TEIP), a process to buy-back and cancel existing LFS was completed in accordance 
with the plan rules, the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules.  The buy-back was conducted as an 
‘employee share scheme buy-back’ in accordance with Division 2 of Part 2J.1 of the Corporations Act, and 
did not require shareholder approval as the suspended TEIP was approved at Ten’s 2013 annual general 
meeting for these purposes.  

Under the employee scheme buy-back, senior executives were given the opportunity to exchange their LFS 
for Rights issued under the amended TEIP. The exchange was based on the LFS’s market value at the time 
of the buy-back. The impact of the buy-back on KMP LFS and Rights are disclosed in section (h) of the 
remuneration report.  

Set out below is a summary of Loan Funded Shares granted under the Plan during the year and the amount 
outstanding but not exercisable as at reporting date. All numbers have been restated to reflect the 
consolidation of the Company’s issued capital on the basis of one share for every existing ten shares. 

Grant Date 

Exercise 
price per 

LFS 
(accounted 

for as an 
option) Expiry date 

 

 

Number of 
LFS 

Granted 

Number 
exchanged
to RightsA 

 

 

Number 
ForfeitedB 

Number of 
LFS 

outstanding 
at the end 

of the 
periodC 

       
18 Dec 2013 $3.319 27 Feb 2017 

27 Feb 2018 

27 Feb 2019 

2,532,862 

844,287 

844,287 

(1,055,294) 

(351,765) 

(351,765) 

(606,244) 

(202,081) 

(202,081) 

871,324 

290,441 

290,441 

19 Feb 2014 $3.412 27 Feb 2017 

27 Feb 2018 

27 Feb 2019 

107,964 

35,988 

35,988 

(107,964) 

(35,988) 

(35,988) 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

3 Sep 2014 $2.568 27 Feb 2018 

27 Feb 2019 

27 Feb 2020 

4,918,843 

1,639,614 

1,639,614 

(615,496) 

(205,165) 

(205,165) 

(492,319) 

(164,106) 

(164,106) 

3,811,028 

1,270,343 

1,270,343 
 
  
 

 A In November 2015, participants were given the option to exchange their LFS for a fair value equivalent of Rights under the 
amended and AGM approved 2016 TEIP 

B 750,000 LFS were forfeited due to the 2014 LFS performance hurdles not being met. The remaining LFS were forfeited by 
resigned employees in line with the suspended TEIP rules and as determined by the Remuneration Committee. 

C On Hamish McLennan’s termination date of 27 July 2016, the performance hurdles applicable to his 2014 and 2015 LFS grants 
were waived. As a result, the loans payable on those LFS are due to be paid by not later than 23 January 2017, or the LFS will 
be forfeited and the relevant shares cancelled. The number of LFS that remain outstanding as at balance date are 1,452,206 for 
2014 and 2,532,091 for 2015. The current market value of these LFS are below the associated loan amounts advanced to acquire 
these shares, therefore it is expected that the loans will not be repaid and that the LFS will be forfeited accordingly.   

The fair value of the Loan Funded Shares at the time of grant (restated for the consolidation of the 
Company’s issued capital) was $1.02 for those granted 18 December 2013, $1.24 for those granted 19 
February 2014 and $0.94 for those granted 3 September 2014. The fair value at grant date is independently 
determined using a Binomial option pricing model.        
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Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the year were as 
follows: 

2016201620162016

$$$$’’’’000000000000

2015201520152015

$$$$’’’’000000000000

Employee share expense                                                                      1,364 6,626

1,3641,3641,3641,364 6,6266,6266,6266,626

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 

The Executive Incentive Plan expense in 2015 included amounts relating to termination benefits for 
outgoing Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr HR McLennan.  These were made up of $2.5m 
of accelerated Loan Funded Share expenses which were recognised in line with AASB 2 Share-
Based Payment and an estimate of $0.4m for his entitlement to participate in the 2016 LTI plan. 
Actual expenses in 2016 were $0.2m, representing the fair value of Rights received on grant date.  

    

22224444    CONTINGENT LCONTINGENT LCONTINGENT LCONTINGENT LIABILITIESIABILITIESIABILITIESIABILITIES     

Financial Guarantee ContractsFinancial Guarantee ContractsFinancial Guarantee ContractsFinancial Guarantee Contracts    

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is 
issued.  The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount 
determined in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. 

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the present value of the difference in net 
cash flows between the contractual payments under the debt instrument and the payments that 
would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a 
third party for assuming the obligations. 

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of subsidiaries or associates are provided 
for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of 
the cost of the investment. 

As part of the sale of the Eye Corp US and Eye Corp UK Out-of-Home businesses in 2013 and 2015, 
the Company retained responsibility for parent guarantees in relation to certain concessions. 
Provisions have been recognised where a cash outflow in relation to these guarantees is probable. 
The final guarantees expire in December 2016. 

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of financial guarantees are as follows: 

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Unsecured guarantees by the Company, and other entities in the

consolidated group in respect of leases of controlled entities in the

group
A

108,685 142,439

108,685108,685108,685108,685 142,439142,439142,439142,439

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED

 
A The Company has back to back unsecured guarantees from third parties in relation to $67.4m (2015: 
$78.6m) of these guarantees. 

    

GeneralGeneralGeneralGeneral    

As part of its normal operations as a television broadcaster, the consolidated entity has received 
writs for defamation and various claims for damages.  At balance date, the Company is not aware 
of any claim of this nature that is expected to result in a material liability. 
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22225555    NOTESNOTESNOTESNOTES    TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWSTO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWSTO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWSTO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS     

Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash flows from operating activities: 

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Loss after income taxLoss after income taxLoss after income taxLoss after income tax (154,401)(154,401)(154,401)(154,401) (308,450)(308,450)(308,450)(308,450)

Impairment of intangible assets 135,179 251,157

Other non-cash expenses 41,736 34,331

(Gain) / Loss on sale of investments (23,128) (1,311)

(Gain) / Loss on sale of other non-current assets 13 (5)

Share in associates' profit (1,135) (733)

Net (decrease) in provisions (7,808) (11,377)

Net increase/(decrease) in deferred tax 742 (2,383)

Net (decrease)/increase in accrued revenue and expense items in

(receivables)/payables
(42,596) (16,241)

Net cash f lows from operating activitiesNet cash f lows from operating activitiesNet cash f lows from operating activitiesNet cash f lows from operating activities (51,398)(51,398)(51,398)(51,398) (55,012)(55,012)(55,012)(55,012)

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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22226666    DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEEDEED OF CROSS GUARANTEEDEED OF CROSS GUARANTEEDEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE    

TEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITED DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEETEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITED DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEETEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITED DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEETEN NETWORK HOLDINGS LIMITED DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE    

Ten Network Holdings Limited and a number of controlled entities identified in Note 18 are party 
to a Deed of Cross Guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others.  By 
entering into the deed, these wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to 
prepare a financial report and directors’ report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by 
the ASIC. 

The companies noted represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order. 

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Revenue from ordinary activ itiesRevenue from ordinary activ itiesRevenue from ordinary activ itiesRevenue from ordinary activ ities 599,893 553,483

Television costs (618,015) (606,338)

Corporate costs (1,748) (1,481)

Finance costs (18,946) (13,896)

Net gain on sale of investments 23,128   -

Write-down of other assets (10,977)   -

Impairment of intangible assets (135,179) (251,157)

Impairment of intercompany loan   - (8,772)

Net (Loss) before income taxNet (Loss) before income taxNet (Loss) before income taxNet (Loss) before income tax (161 ,844)(161 ,844)(161 ,844)(161 ,844) (328,161)(328,161)(328,161)(328,161)

Income tax benefit/(expense) 379 1,560

Net (Loss) after income taxNet (Loss) after income taxNet (Loss) after income taxNet (Loss) after income tax (161,465)(161,465)(161,465)(161,465) (326,601)(326,601)(326,601)(326,601)

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests   -   -

(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year (161,465)(161,465)(161,465)(161,465) (326,601)(326,601)(326,601)(326,601)

(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year(Loss) for the year (161,465) (326,601)

Other comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive income

AASB 139 hedge reserve 884 716

Total comprehensive income after income taxTotal comprehensive income after income taxTotal comprehensive income after income taxTotal comprehensive income after income tax (160,581)(160,581)(160,581)(160,581) (325,885)(325,885)(325,885)(325,885)

Accumulated losses at the beginning of year (1,128,706) (749,551)

Adjustment to opening accumulated losses (28,558) (61,884)

Dividends received 5,072 9,330

AASB 139 hedge reserve (884) (716)

Retained earnings at the end of yearRetained earnings at the end of yearRetained earnings at the end of yearRetained earnings at the end of year (1 ,313,657)(1 ,313,657)(1 ,313,657)(1 ,313,657) (1 ,128,706)(1 ,128,706)(1 ,128,706)(1 ,128,706)

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Balance SheetBalance SheetBalance SheetBalance Sheet

Cash assets 14,778 11,129

Receivables 95,392 94,429

Inventories 149,481 171,699

Current tax assets   - 1,253

Other 2,895 3,500

Total current assets 262,546 282,010

Receivables   - 25,224

Inventories 2,735 5,315

Other financial assets 9,889 18,731

Property, plant and equipment 42,155 44,853

Intangibles 346,518 481,697

Deferred tax assets   - 1,339

Other - -

Total non-current assets 401,297 577,159

Total assetsTotal assetsTotal assetsTotal assets 663,843663,843663,843663,843 859,169859,169859,169859,169

Payables 131,590 187,520

Derivative financial instruments   - 350

Provisions 16,302 23,733

Total current liabilities 147,892 211,603

Payables   - 29,988

Borrowings 90,200 154,904

Derivative financial instruments 2,345 3,193

Deferred tax liabilities   -   -

Provisions 15,972 15,657

Total non-current liabilities 108,517 203,742

Total liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilities 256,409256,409256,409256,409 415,345415,345415,345415,345

Net assetsNet assetsNet assetsNet assets 407,434407,434407,434407,434 443,824443,824443,824443,824

Contributed equity 2,507,274 2,361,057

Reserves (786,183) (788,527)

Retained earnings (1,313,657) (1,128,706)

Total EquityTotal EquityTotal EquityTotal Equity 407,434407,434407,434407,434 443,824443,824443,824443,824

CONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATEDCONSOLIDATED
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22227777    DIVIDENDSDIVIDENDSDIVIDENDSDIVIDENDS 

During the year ended 31 August 2016, there were no dividends proposed or paid by the Company. 
(2015: Nil). 

Dividends of $1.5m and $0.7m were paid to Network Ten Pty Limited and CBS Studios Inc. 
respectively on 14 December 2015, which represent their share of the net profit of ElevenCo Pty 
Limited for the half year to 31 August 2015.  

Dividends of $3.6m and $1.8m were paid to Network Ten Pty Limited and CBS Studios Inc. 
respectively on 13 June 2016, which represent their share of the net profit of ElevenCo Pty Limited 
for the half year to 29 February 2016. 

 

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Dividend franking accountDividend franking accountDividend franking accountDividend franking account

Franking credits (30%) available for the subsequent financial year 23,708
A

20,453
A

THE COMPANYTHE COMPANYTHE COMPANYTHE COMPANY

 
A: Of this balance, $3.6m (2015: $3.1m) relates to ElevenCo Pty Limited which is not part of the Ten Network 
Holdings Limited tax consolidated group. 

The above amounts represent the balances of the franking accounts as at the end of the financial 
year, adjusted for: 

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision of income 
tax; 

(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends proposed or provided as at 
the reporting date; and 

(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at 
reporting date. 
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22228888    PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATIONPARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATIONPARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATIONPARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION                                

The financial information for the parent entity, Ten Network Holdings Limited, has been prepared 
on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the 
financial statements of the parent entity.  

(ii) Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established. This applies 
even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits.  

(iii) Tax Consolidation Legislation 

A controlled entity, The Ten Group Pty Limited, and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities 
implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003. 

Ten Network Holdings Limited implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2004. 

In 2008, The Ten Group Pty Limited tax consolidated group joined the existing Ten Network 
Holdings Limited tax consolidated group.  The Company continues to be the head of this tax 
consolidated group.  

The Company as the head entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  These tax amounts are measured under the group 
allocation method. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current 
tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are 
recognised as amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the consolidated entity.   

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax 
funding agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax 
consolidated entities. 
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(a)(a)(a)(a) Summary financial informationSummary financial informationSummary financial informationSummary financial information    

2016201620162016

$’000$’000$’000$’000

2015201520152015

$’000$’000$’000$’000

Balance sheetBalance sheetBalance sheetBalance sheet

Current assets 44,011 40,921

Total assets 
A, B 573,735 653,046

Current liabilities 101,191 86,654

Total liabilities 
B 190,960 241,558

Net assetsNet assetsNet assetsNet assets 382,775382,775382,775382,775 411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488

Shareholders equityShareholders equityShareholders equityShareholders equity

Issued capital 2,928,604 2,782,386

Accumulated Losses 
B (2,545,829) (2,370,898)

382,775382,775382,775382,775 411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488411 ,488

(Loss) for the year 
A, B (174,931) (384,625)

Total comprehensive (loss) (174,931)(174,931)(174,931)(174,931) (384,625)(384,625)(384,625)(384,625)

THE COMPANYTHE COMPANYTHE COMPANYTHE COMPANY

 

A    Included in the loss for the year is an impairment of the investment that the parent entity held in the Ten 
Group Pty Limited.   

B   Included in liabilities is the bank loan facility (see Note 12). The associated Shareholder Guarantors fees, 
interest expense, commitment fees, and amortisation of borrowing costs are included in the loss for the 
year.  

(b)(b)(b)(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entityGuarantees entered into by the parent entityGuarantees entered into by the parent entityGuarantees entered into by the parent entity    and Conand Conand Conand Contingent liabilities of the parent entitytingent liabilities of the parent entitytingent liabilities of the parent entitytingent liabilities of the parent entity    

The Company has provided guarantees in respect of leases of controlled entities for the year ended 
31 August 2016 and 31 August 2015.  The maximum payments under these guarantees are $107.7m 
as at 31 August 2016 (2015: $125.8m). 

In addition, the Company has given a cross guarantee as described in Note 26. 

(c)(c)(c)(c) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment.Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment.Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment.Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment.    

As at 31 August 2016, the Company had no contractual commitments for the acquisition of 
property, plant or equipment (2015: Nil). 

 

29292929    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT EVENTS     

No matters or circumstances have arisen since balance date that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect: 

� the operations in financial years subsequent to 31 August 2016 of the consolidated entity; 
or 

� the results of those operations; or the state of affairs in financial years subsequent to 31 
August 2016 of the consolidated entity. 
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30303030    STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESSTATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESSTATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESSTATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES    

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report which have 
been disclosed elsewhere in this report are set out below.  These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial statements are for the 
consolidated entity consisting of Ten Network Holdings Limited and its controlled entities. 

(a)(a)(a)(a) Basis of PreparationBasis of PreparationBasis of PreparationBasis of Preparation    

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, 
Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. The Company is a for 
profit company. 

Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its controlled entities also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

Historical Cost Convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Changes to Presentation   

Comparative information is reclassified where appropriate to enhance comparability. 

(b)(b)(b)(b) Principles of ConsolidationPrinciples of ConsolidationPrinciples of ConsolidationPrinciples of Consolidation    

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of all entities 
controlled by the Company.  The Company and its controlled entities together are referred to in 
this financial report as the consolidated entity.  The consolidated entity’s principal subsidiaries are 
detailed in Note 18. The financial statements of controlled entities are included from the date 
control commences until the date control ceases. 

All intercompany transactions are eliminated in full.  Non-controlling interests in the equity and 
results of the entities that are controlled by the Company are shown as a separate item in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated entity treats transactions with non-controlling interest that do not result in a loss 
of control as transactions with equity owners of the consolidated entity. 

Refer to Note 9 for the accounting treatment of investments in associates and joint ventures. 

((((cccc))))    Business CombinationsBusiness CombinationsBusiness CombinationsBusiness Combinations    

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.  The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the consolidated entity.  The consideration transferred also 
includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-
existing equity interest in the subsidiary.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.  
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the 
fair value of the group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If 
those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired 
and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase.  Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, 
the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange.  
The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and 
conditions. 
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Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability.  Amounts classified as 
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised 
in profit or loss. 

 
((((dddd))))    LeasesLeasesLeasesLeases    

Operating leases 

Operating leases are those leases under which the lessor effectively retains substantially all the 
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of leased non-current assets.  

Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease for contracts which include fixed annual increases. 

The present value of future payments for surplus leased space under non-cancellable operating 
leases is recognised as a liability, net of sub-leasing revenue, in the period in which it is determined 
that the leased space will be of no future benefit to the Company.  Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance charge. Lease income from operating leases is recognised in 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.    

Finance leases 

Finance leases are capitalised.  A lease asset and a lease liability equal to the present value of the 
minimum lease payments are recorded at the inception of the lease. 

Each lease payments is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged 
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. Contingent rentals are expensed as incurred. 

((((eeee))))    Employee BenefitsEmployee BenefitsEmployee BenefitsEmployee Benefits    

(i) Short-term obligations  

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating 
sick leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the 
end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.  

(ii)    Other long-term employee benefit obligations  

The liability for long service leave which is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the 
end of the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods 
of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

(iii) Retirement Benefit Obligations 

Contributions to defined contribution funds are recognised as an expense as they become payable. 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the consolidated entity 
before the normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for these benefits. The consolidated entity recognises termination benefits at the earlier 
of the following dates: (a) when the group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and 
(b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of AASB 137 and 
involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected 
to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 
are discounted to present value. 
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(iv) Superannuation  

The consolidated entity contributes superannuation benefits to numerous, but solely accumulation-
type superannuation funds including personal, award based and the Network Ten Australia 
Superannuation Plan (administered by Mercer Master Trust) at various percentages of salary 
pursuant to employee contracts and statutory obligations. 

    
((((ffff) ) ) )                 Foreign Currency TranslationForeign Currency TranslationForeign Currency TranslationForeign Currency Translation    

Functional and Presentation Currency 

Items included in the financial statements of the consolidated entity are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.  The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company's functional and 
presentation currency. 

Transactions and Balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the date of the 
transaction.  At balance date amounts payable and receivable are translated at rates of exchange 
current at that date.  All realised and unrealised currency translation gains and losses are brought 
to account in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Consolidated Companies 

The result and financial position of the consolidated entities that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

� Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the date of the balance sheet; 

� Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at 
average exchange rates; and 

� All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any investment in foreign 
entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such 
investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity.  When a foreign operation is sold or borrowing 
repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange differences are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as part of the gain or the loss on sale. 

((((gggg) ) ) )                 Goods and Services Tax (GST)Goods and Services Tax (GST)Goods and Services Tax (GST)Goods and Services Tax (GST)    

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, 
are presented as operating cash flows. 

((((hhhh)    )    )    )            Rounding of AmountsRounding of AmountsRounding of AmountsRounding of Amounts    

The Company is of a kind referred to in Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial report.  Amounts 
in the financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest 
thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 
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    ((((iiii))))    New Accounting Standards and UIG InterpretationsNew Accounting Standards and UIG InterpretationsNew Accounting Standards and UIG InterpretationsNew Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations    

The consolidated entity adopted all new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations that became mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 
September 2014. The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the current period 
or any prior period.             

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory 
for 30 June 2016 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s 
assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.  

(i) AASB 9 financial instruments  

AASB 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for 
financial assets. 

While the Company has yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the classification and 
measurement of financial assets, the main financial assets expected to be impacted are trade 
receivables. The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment provisions based 
on expected credit losses (ECL) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under AASB 
139. While the Company has not yet undertaken a detailed assessment of how its impairment 
provisions would be affected by the new model, it may result in an earlier recognition of credit 
losses. The Company does not expect the new guidance to have a significant impact on the 
classification and measurement of these. 

The new hedge accounting rules will align the accounting for hedging instruments more closely 
with the Company’s risk management policies. As a general rule, more hedge relationships might 
be eligible for hedge accounting. While the Company is yet to undertake a detailed assessment, it 
would appear that the Company’s current hedge relationships would qualify as continuing hedges 
upon the adoption of AASB 9. Accordingly, the Company does not expect a significant impact on 
the accounting for its hedging relationships. 

There will be no impact on the group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements 
only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or 
loss and the group does not have any such liabilities. 

Finally, the new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in 
presentation. These are expected to change the nature and extent of the Company’s disclosures 
about its financial instruments particularly in the year of the adoption of the new standard. The 
Company is currently assessing whether it should adopt AASB 9 before its mandatory date, 1 
January 2019.  

(ii) AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers  

The AASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace AASB 118 
which covers contracts for goods and services and AASB 111 which covers construction contracts. 
The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or 
service transfers to a customer – so the notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and 
rewards. Management is currently assessing the impact of the new rules and  at this stage, the 
consolidated entity is not able to estimate the impact of the new rules on the consolidated  financial 
statements. The consolidated entity will make more detailed assessments of the impact over the 
next twelve months.  

(iii) AASB 16 Leases 

Under the new standard issued in February 2016, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a 
financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The standard will affect primarily the accounting for 
the group’s operating leases. As at the reporting date, the group has operating lease commitments 
of $83.3m. However, the group has not yet determined to what extent these commitments will 
result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for future payments and how this will affect the 
group’s profit and classification of cash flows. This standard is mandatory for financial years 
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The group does not intend to adopt the standard before 
its effective date.    

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a 
material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions. 
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In the directors' opinion:  

 

a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 31 to 79 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i. complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and 
other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 

ii. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 31 
August 2016 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

 

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

 

c) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members 
of the Extended Closed Group identified in Note 26 will be able to meet any obligations 
or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross 
guarantee described in Note 26.  

 

Note 30 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the IASB.  

 

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and General 
Manager Finance required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

SIGNED at Sydney on 20 October 2016 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 

DL Gordon           

Chairman         



 

PwC, ABN 52 780 433 757 
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1171  
DX 77 Sydney, Australia 
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 
 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
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Independent auditor’s report  
To the members of Ten Network Holdings Limited 

 

Report on the audit of the financial report  

Our opinion 

In our opinion:  

The accompanying financial report of Ten Network Holdings Limited (the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’)) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 August 2016 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended; and  

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

What we have audited 

The Group’s financial report comprises: 

• the balance sheet as at 31 August 2016; 

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the cash flow statement for the year then ended;  

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies; and  

• the directors’ declaration. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 

Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (‘the Code’) that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. 
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Our audit approach 

An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from  
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 
The Group’s main trading activities are the operation of multi-channel commercial television licenses 
in Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Adelaide and Perth, and a national online media platform. 

 

Materiality Audit scope Key audit matters 

• For the purpose of our audit 
we used overall Group 
quantitative materiality of $2.7 
million, which represents 0.4% 
of the Group’s revenue. 

• We applied this threshold, 
together with qualitative 
considerations, to determine 
the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of 
misstatements on the financial 
report as a whole. 

• We chose revenue as the 
benchmark because, in our 
view, it is a key financial report 
metric used in assessing the 
performance of the Group, is a 
generally accepted benchmark 
and is not as volatile as other 
profit and loss measures. 

• We selected 0.4% based on our 
professional judgement, noting 
that it is also within the range 
of commonly accepted 
revenue-related benchmarks. 

• Our audit focused on where the 
directors made subjective 
judgements; for example, 
significant accounting estimates 
involving assumptions and 
inherently uncertain future 
events. 

• The scope of our audit included 
all companies in the Group, 
which are managed from one 
central location in Sydney, 
where our audit team was 
based. A number of audit 
procedures are also performed 
at the Group’s provider of 
outsourced advertising sales 
services. 

• The operations of the Group 
previously included Out-of-
Home advertising. All work on 
the disposal and results of these 
operations prior to disposal, 
along with all other audit 
procedures on the Group, were 
performed by the Australian 
engagement team. 

• The team included specialists 
and experts in IT, tax, treasury 
and valuation. 

• Amongst other relevant 
topics, we communicated the 
following key audit matters, 
to the Audit and Risk 
Committee: 

- Valuation of television 
licenses; 

- Valuation of television 
program inventory; 

- Ten and Multi Channel 
Network Pty Ltd (MCN) 
strategic relationship; and 

- Assessment of forecast 
cash flows. 

• They are further described in 
the Key audit matters section 
of our report. 
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The following key audit matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context. 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of television licenses  

We focussed on the valuation of television 
licenses because this balance of $346.5m is 
the largest asset of the Group and is 
sensitive to volatile assumptions including 
advertising market performance and the 
Group’s market revenue share. The 
impairment of $135.2m in the current 
period reflects the result of recent 
advertising market declines, as well as a 
reassessment of the long term market 
growth forecasts.  

In preparing the value in use model used to 
assess the value of this intangible asset, the 
Group makes a number of key assumptions 
that are judgemental. 

The key assumptions and related 
disclosures can be found in note 7 of the 
financial report which indicates that the 
value in use model remains sensitive to a 
range of assumptions, in particular forecast 
revenue share, the long term market 
growth and discount rate. 

We evaluated the Group’s cash flow forecasts in the value in use 
model and the process by which they were developed. We compared 
these forecasts to the Board approved budget and strategic plans 
and compared previous forecasts to actual results to assess the 
historical accuracy of forecasting. 

To test the Group’s value in use model we: 

• Assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions used by: 

- comparing revenue share forecasts to the historical 
performance of the business and the Group’s assessment 
of future prospects, including future program schedules; 

- comparing long term market growth assumptions to 
external market data; and 

- comparing the discount rate against a basket of similar 
companies which included a blend of entertainment 
(including television) and media businesses. 

• Engaged PwC valuation experts to assist us in our assessment 
of the components of the discount rate, through the creation 
of a ‘shadow’ calculation; and 

• Considered the sensitivity of the model to changes in key 
assumptions by applying other values within a reasonably 
possible range. This allowed us to compare the final valuation 
of the television license to possible valuations under these 
different scenarios. 

 

Valuation of television program 
rights 

The valuation of program rights was 
considered because the rights to air 
television programs are fundamental to the 
operations of the Group, it is a significant 
balance of $156.8m and the assessment of 
their valuation is subjective.  

As disclosed in note 1 of the financial 
report, the Group’s valuation assessment is 
performed through consideration of factors 
including current profitability of programs 
and future program schedules.  

Our testing of the valuation of program rights included: 

• Testing the Group’s key controls over recognition of program 
rights contracts and subsequent expensing of program rights; 

• Testing the reconciliations between the valuation of rights in 
the accounting records compared to the operations system;  

• Using the program profitability report to consider historically 
unprofitable programs for potential impairment. Where a 
historically unprofitable program was identified, we 
considered if a provision was required; and 

• Testing consistent application of the Group’s accounting policy 
in the recognition and valuation of program rights. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Ten and MCN strategic relationship 

At the start of the year the Group and MCN 
commenced a long-term agreement for 
MCN to sell the Group’s television, catch-
up and digital properties to advertisers.  

The Group has focussed significant activity 
on the transition of its revenue to 
receivable processes to MCN and the 
migration to a new trading platform in the 
second half of the year. 

There is a higher risk of error in financial 
information when the underlying activities 
are being changed. Given the importance of 
the revenue and receivables on financial 
results, we focused on this new relationship 
and the revenue to receivables process post 
transition. 

We, including our IT specialists, obtained a detailed understanding 
of the Group’s transition plans for both the long-term agreement 
and the new trading platform, including understanding the timing, 
resources, and expertise being applied. We assessed the impact of 
this relationship, and tested the new revenue to receivable 
accounting process by: 

• Understanding and evaluating the revenue to receivables 
process and controls pre and post the migration to the new 
trading platform;  

• Testing the process and collation of information included in 
monthly reporting provided to the Group by MCN, and 
inspecting the reviews that had been performed by the Group 
on receipt of this information;  

• Testing a sample of advertiser’s campaigns sold by MCN, 
covering both the confirmation of advertising spots aired and 
the pricing charged; 

• Confirming for a sample of cash receipts that these have been 
allocated to the correct customer balance; and  

• Examining subsequent cash receipts from a sample of 
customers, to support the existence and valuation of the 
accounts receivable balance.  

 

Assessment of forecast cash flows 

The Group’s cash flow model forecasts that 
net debt will remain below the facility limit 
of $200m with sufficient headroom, 
subject to continued availability of the CBA 
facility, for 12 months from the signing of 
the financial report. 

In preparing the cash flow model used to 
support the going concern basis of 
preparation, the Group made a number of 
assumptions that are subjective and 
judgemental. 

We evaluated the Group’s 12 month forecast cash flow model. We 
compared this to the Board approved budget for the next financial 
period and strategic plans, tested consistency with the value in use 
model utilised in assessment of the valuation of television licenses 
and compared historical forecasts to actual cash flows. This allowed 
us to understand the recent cash flow performance of the Group and 
the historical accuracy of forecasting. 

To test the methodology of the model, and the Group’s conclusion 
we:  

• Compared the expected timing of customer receipts and 
program payments to be made over the next twelve 
months to historical trends and  key contractual terms; 
and 

• Evaluated the Group’s revenue share sensitivity analysis 
and the resultant impact on cash flows and available 
funds. We considered this in the context of the Group’s 
ability to change the timing of cash outflows, and any 
uncommitted cash outflows included in the forecast. 

We examined the terms associated with the debt agreement and 
the amount of facility available for drawdown and classification of 
the balance. We have concluded that there is sufficient disclosure 
on the facility in note 12 of the financial report.  
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Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Directors’ Report included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 August 2016 but does 
not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar2.pdf 
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Report on the remuneration report  

 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 12 to 25 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 31 August 2016.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Ten Network Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 
August 2016 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
 
 

 
 
 
Susan Horlin           Sydney 
Partner          20 October 2016 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  


